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Risk Factors

I. RISK FACTORS
J.P. Morgan Structured Products B.V. ("JPMSP" or the "Issuer") is an indirect, wholly-owned
subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. is one of the principal bank
subsidiaries of JPMorgan Chase & Co (the "holding company" and, JPMorgan Chase & Co. together
with its consolidated subsidiaries "JPMorgan Chase"). J.P. Morgan Securities plc ("JPMS plc" or the
"Guarantor") is also a principal bank subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase. Investors in the Securities are
exposed to the creditworthiness of JPMSP as an issuer of Securities and to the creditworthiness of
JPMS plc as Guarantor of the Securities issued by JPMSP. On account of JPMSP and JPMS plc being
subsidiaries of JPMorgan Chase & Co., the risks that affect JPMorgan Chase can also affect JPMSP
and JPMS plc, either directly as an individual entity or indirectly as part of JPMorgan Chase.
JPMorgan Chase is a major, global financial services group and, as such, faces a variety of risks that
are substantial and inherent in its businesses, and which may affect JPMSP's and the Guarantor's ability
to fulfil its respective payment, delivery or other obligations under the Securities.
JPMSP will, in respect of each issuance, enter into hedging arrangements with one or more companies
of JPMorgan Chase, which may in turn hedge their positions by entering into hedging arrangements
with another JPMorgan Chase company. If any of these JPMorgan Chase companies incurs losses with
respect to any of its activities (irrespective of whether those activities relate to JPMSP or not) the
ability of such company to fulfil its obligations under such hedging arrangements could be impaired,
thereby exposing holders of securities issued by JPMSP to a risk of loss. Should this circumstance
materialise, the payment obligations of JPMSP under the terms of the Securities issued by JPMSP
would be guaranteed by JPMS plc.
JPMS plc is one of the principal operating companies in the JPMorgan Chase group. JPMS plc itself
provides a wide range of financial and securities services. There are also substantial inter-relationships
between JPMs plc and other companies of JPMorgan Chase, which may include the provision of
funding, capital services and logistical support to or by JPMS plc, as well as common or shared
business or operational platforms or systems, including employees. As a consequence of such interrelationships, and of the participation of both JPMS plc and other JPMorgan Chase group companies in
the global financial services sector, factors which could affect the business and condition of JPMorgan
Chase & Co. or other companies of JPMorgan Chase may also affect the business and condition of
JPMS plc. Any such effect could be direct, for example, where economic or market factors directly
affect the markets in which JPMS plc and other companies of JPMorgan Chase operate, or indirect, for
example where any factor affects the ability of other companies in the JPMorgan Chase group to
provide services or funding or capital to JPMS plc or, directly or indirectly, to place business with
JPMS plc. Similarly, any development affecting the reputation or standing of JPMorgan Chase & Co.
or other companies in the JPMorgan Chase group may have an indirect effect on JPMS plc. Such interrelationships should therefore be taken into account in any assessment of JPMS plc.
Purchase of Securities issued by JPMSP involves substantial risks: Investors should ensure that they
understand the nature of the risks posed by, and the extent of their exposure under, the Securities.
Investors should consider the suitability of the Securities as an investment in light of their own
circumstances, investment objectives, tax position and financial condition.
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1.

Regulatory Risk

1.1

JPMorgan Chase's businesses are highly regulated, and the laws and regulations that
apply to JPMorgan Chase have a significant impact on its operations.
JPMorgan Chase is a financial services firm with operations worldwide. JPMorgan Chase
must comply with the laws and regulations that apply to its operations in all of the
jurisdictions around the world in which it does business. The regulation of financial services
activities is typically extensive and comprehensive.
In recent years, legislators and regulators adopted a wide range of new laws and regulations
affecting the financial services industry, both within and outside the U.S. The supervision of
financial services firms also expanded significantly during this period. The wave of increased
regulation and supervision of JPMorgan Chase has affected the way that it conducts and
structures its operations. Existing and new laws and regulations and expanded supervision
could require JPMorgan Chase to make further changes to its operations. These changes could
result in JPMorgan Chase incurring additional costs for complying with laws and regulations
or losing a significant amount of revenue, and could reduce JPMorgan Chase's profitability.
More specifically, existing and new laws and regulations could require JPMorgan Chase to:

1.2

•

limit the products and services that it offers;

•

reduce the liquidity that it can provide through its market-making activities;

•

stop or discourage it from engaging in business opportunities that it might otherwise
pursue;

•

recognise losses in the value of assets that it holds;

•

pay higher assessments, levies or other governmental charges;

•

dispose of certain assets, and do so at times or prices that are disadvantageous;

•

impose restrictions on certain business activities, or

•

increase the prices that it charges for products and services, which could reduce the
demand for them.

Differences in financial services regulation can be disadvantageous for JPMorgan
Chase's business.
The content and application of laws and regulations affecting financial services firms
sometimes vary according to factors such as the size of the firm, the jurisdiction in which it is
organised or operates, or other criteria. For example:
•

larger firms are often subject to more stringent supervision and regulation;

•

financial technology companies and other competitors may not be subject to banking
regulation, or may be supervised by a national or state regulatory agency that does
not have the same resources or regulatory priorities as the regulatory agencies which
supervise more diversified financial services firms; or

•

the financial services regulatory framework in a particular jurisdiction may favor
financial institutions that are based in that country.

There can also be significant differences in the ways that similar regulatory initiatives
affecting the financial services industry are implemented in the U.S. and in different countries
and regions in which JPMorgan Chase does business. For example, legislative and regulatory
initiatives within the EU could require JPMorgan Chase to make significant modifications to
its operations and legal entity structure in that region in order to comply with those
5
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requirements. These include laws and regulations that have been adopted or proposed relating
to:
•

the resolution of financial institutions;

•

the establishment by non-EU financial institutions of intermediate holding companies
in the EU;

•

the separation of trading activities from core banking services;

•

mandatory on-exchange trading;

•

position limits and reporting rules for derivatives;

•

governance and accountability regimes;

•

conduct of business requirements; and

•

restrictions on compensation.

These types of differences in financial services regulation, or inconsistencies or conflicts
between laws and regulations between different jurisdictions, could require JPMorgan Chase
to, among other things:
•

divest assets or restructure its operations;

•

absorb increased operational, capital and liquidity costs;

•

change the prices that it charges for its products and services;

•

curtail the products and services that it offers to its customers and clients; or

•

incur higher costs for complying with different legal and regulatory frameworks.

Any or all of these factors could harm JPMorgan Chase's ability to compete against other
firms that are not subject to the same laws and regulations or supervisory oversight, or harm
JPMorgan Chase's businesses, results of operations and profitability.
Governments in some countries in which JPMorgan Chase does business have adopted laws or
regulations which require that JPMorgan Chase subsidiaries which operate in those countries
maintain minimum amounts of capital or liquidity on a stand-alone basis. Some regulators
outside the U.S. have also proposed that large banks which conduct certain businesses in their
jurisdictions operate through separate subsidiaries located in those countries. These
requirements, and any future laws or regulations that impose restrictions on the way JPMorgan
Chase organises its businesses or increase the capital or liquidity requirements that would
apply to JPMorgan Chase subsidiaries, could hinder JPMorgan Chase's ability to efficiently
manage its operations, increase its funding and liquidity costs, and result in lower profitability.
1.3

Heightened regulatory scrutiny of JPMorgan Chase's businesses has increased its
compliance costs and could result in restrictions on its operations.
JPMorgan Chase's operations are subject to heightened oversight and scrutiny from regulatory
authorities in many jurisdictions where JPMorgan Chase does business. JPMorgan Chase has
paid significant fines or provided other monetary relief in connection with resolving several
investigations and enforcement actions by governmental agencies. JPMorgan Chase could
become subject to similar regulatory settlements or other actions in the future, and addressing
the requirements of any such settlement could result in JPMorgan Chase incurring higher
operational and compliance costs. In connection with resolving specific regulatory
investigations or enforcement actions, certain regulators have required JPMorgan Chase and
6
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other financial institutions to admit wrongdoing with respect to the activities that gave rise to
the settlement. These types of admissions can lead to:
•

greater exposure in civil litigation;

•

damage to reputation;

•

disqualification from doing business with certain clients or customers, or in specific
jurisdictions; or

•

other direct and indirect adverse effects.

Furthermore, U.S. government officials have demonstrated a willingness to bring criminal
actions against financial institutions and have increasingly demanded that institutions plead
guilty to criminal offences or admit other wrongdoing in connection with resolving regulatory
investigations or enforcement actions. In the case of JPMorgan Chase, these resolutions have
included:
•

JPMorgan Chase's agreement in May 2015 to plead guilty to a single violation of
federal antitrust law in connection with its settlements with certain government
authorities relating to its foreign exchange sales and trading activities and controls
related to those activities; and

•

the non-prosecution agreement entered into by a subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase with
the U.S. Department of Justice in November 2016 in connection with settlements to
resolve various governmental investigations relating to a former hiring programme
for candidates referred by clients, potential clients and government officials in the
Asia Pacific region.

Resolutions of this type can have significant collateral consequences for the subject financial
institution, including loss of clients, customers and business, the inability to offer certain
products or services, or losing permission to operate certain businesses, either temporarily or
permanently.
JPMorgan Chase expects that it and other financial services firms will continue to be subject
to expanded regulatory scrutiny and governmental investigations and enforcement actions.
JPMorgan Chase also expects that regulators will continue to insist that financial institutions
be penalised for actual or deemed violations of law with formal and punitive enforcement
actions, including the imposition of significant monetary and other sanctions, rather than
resolving these matters through informal supervisory actions. Furthermore, if JPMorgan Chase
fails to meet the requirements of any governmental settlements and other actions to which it is
subject, or to maintain risk and control processes that meet the heightened standards
established by its regulators, it could be required to, among other things:
•

enter into further orders and settlements;

•

pay additional regulatory fines, penalties or judgments; or

•

accept material regulatory restrictions on, or changes in the management of, its
businesses.

The extent of JPMorgan Chase's exposure to legal and regulatory matters can be unpredictable
and could, in some cases, exceed the amount of reserves that JPMorgan Chase has established
for those matters.
1.4

Requirements for the orderly resolution of JPMorgan Chase could result in JPMorgan
Chase having to restructure or reorganise its businesses.
JPMorgan Chase is required under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act") and Federal Reserve and U.S. Federal Deposit
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Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") rules to prepare and submit periodically to those agencies a
detailed plan for rapid and orderly resolution in bankruptcy without extraordinary government
support, in the event of material financial distress or failure. The agencies' evaluation of
JPMorgan Chase's resolution plan may change, and the requirements for resolution plans may
be modified from time to time. Any such determinations or modifications could result in
JPMorgan Chase making changes to its legal entity structure or to certain internal or external
activities that could increase funding or operational costs.
If the Federal Reserve and the FDIC were to determine that a future resolution plan submitted
by JPMorgan Chase has deficiencies, they could jointly impose more stringent capital,
leverage or liquidity requirements or restrictions on JPMorgan Chase's growth, activities or
operations. After two years, if the deficiencies are not cured, the agencies could also require
that JPMorgan Chase restructure, reorganise or divest assets or businesses in ways that could
materially and adversely affect JPMorgan Chase's operations and strategy. As a consequence,
operations, business and assets of JPMSP and/or JPMS plc could be transferred to other
members of the group and JPMSP and/or JPMS plc could be reorganised or liquidated.
2.

Political Risk

2.1

Political developments can cause uncertainty concerning the regulatory environment in
which JPMorgan Chase operates its businesses.
Recent elections and referendums in the U.S. and abroad have introduced uncertainty
regarding the regulatory environment in which JPMorgan Chase and other financial services
firms will operate in the future. For example, the U.K.'s planned departure from the EU has
engendered significant uncertainty concerning the regulatory framework under which global
financial services institutions, including JPMorgan Chase, will need to conduct their business
in the U.K. and the EU. Depending on the nature of the arrangements agreed between the U.K.
and the EU, including with respect to the ability of financial services companies to engage in
business in the EU from legal entities organised in or operating from the U.K., JPMorgan
Chase may need to make significant changes to its legal entity structure and operations and the
locations in which it operates. These types of structural and operational changes could result in
JPMorgan Chase needing to implement an operating model across its European legal entities
that is less efficient or cost-effective.
The result of an election may suggest that the new administration will ease the regulatory
requirements that apply to financial services firms. However, it is equally possible that the
potential for reduced regulation does not occur or is reversed by another regulator or by a
subsequent administration, or that deregulation measures that are ultimately enacted deliver
significant competitive advantages to financial services firms that are structured differently or
serve different markets than JPMorgan Chase. JPMorgan Chase cannot predict political
developments of this nature, or whether they will have favourable or unfavourable long-term
effects on its businesses.

2.2

Economic uncertainty caused by political developments can hurt JPMorgan Chase's
businesses.
The economic environment and market conditions in which JPMorgan Chase operates
continue to be uncertain due to recent political developments in the U.S. and abroad. Certain
policy proposals, including isolationist foreign policies, protectionist trade policies or the
possible withdrawal or reduction of government support for U.S. government sponsored
entities, could cause a contraction in U.S. and global economic growth and higher volatility in
the financial markets. These types of political developments could, among other things:
•

erode investor confidence in the U.S. economy and financial markets;

•

heighten concerns about whether the U.S. government will be funded, and its
outstanding debt serviced, at any particular time; and

•

undermine the status of the U.S. dollar as a safe haven currency.
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These factors could lead to greater market volatility, large-scale sales of U.S. government debt
and other U.S. debt and equity securities, the widening of credit spreads and other market
dislocations. Any of these potential outcomes could cause JPMorgan Chase to suffer losses in
its investment securities portfolio, reduce its capital levels, hamper its ability to deliver
products and services to its clients and customers, and weaken its results of operations.
Political developments in other parts of the world have also led to uncertainty in global
economic conditions, including:
•

concerns about the capabilities and intentions of the government of North Korea; and

•

regional hostilities, and political or social upheavals, in other parts of the world.

JPMorgan Chase's results of operations can be adversely affected by the uncertainty arising
from significant political developments and any market volatility or disruption that results
from that uncertainty.
2.3

The positive impact of U.S. tax reform legislation on JPMorgan Chase may diminish
over time.
The long-term impact of the tax reform legislation recently enacted in the U.S. on JPMorgan
Chase and the U.S. economy is not yet known. While the tax reform will have a positive
impact on JPMorgan Chase's net income, the competitive environment and other factors will
influence the extent to which these benefits are retained by JPMorgan Chase over the longer
term. In addition, the specific impact on JPMorgan Chase's businesses, products and
geographies may vary.

3.

Market Risk

3.1

JPMorgan Chase's businesses are materially affected by economic and market
conditions.
JPMorgan Chase's results of operations can be negatively affected by adverse changes in any
of the following:
•

the liquidity in the U.S. and global financial markets;

•

the level and volatility of market prices and rates, including those for debt and equity
instruments, currencies, commodities, interest rates and other market indices;

•

investor, consumer and business sentiment;

•

events that reduce confidence in the financial markets;

•

inflation and unemployment;

•

the availability and cost of capital and credit;

•

the economic effects of natural disasters, severe weather conditions, health
emergencies or pandemics, cyberattacks, outbreaks of hostilities, terrorism or other
geopolitical instabilities;

•

monetary and fiscal policies and actions taken by governmental authorities, including
the Federal Reserve and other central banks; and

•

the health of the U.S. and global economies.

JPMorgan Chase's consumer businesses are particularly affected by U.S. domestic economic
conditions, including:
9
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•

U.S. interest rates;

•

the rate of unemployment;

•

housing prices;

•

the level of consumer confidence; and

•

the number of personal bankruptcies.

Sustained low growth in the U.S. economy could diminish customer demand for the products
and services offered by JPMorgan Chase's consumer businesses. It could also increase the cost
to provide those products and services. Adverse economic conditions could also lead to an
increase in delinquencies in mortgage, credit card, auto and other loans and higher net chargeoffs, which can reduce JPMorgan Chase's earnings. These consequences could be significantly
worse in certain geographies where high levels of unemployment have resulted from declining
industrial or manufacturing activity.
JPMorgan Chase's earnings from its consumer businesses could also be adversely affected by
changes in government policies that affect consumers, including those relating to medical
insurance, immigration and employment status, as well as governmental policies aimed at the
economy more broadly, such as infrastructure spending and global trade, which could result
in, among other things, higher inflation or reductions in consumer disposable income.
In JPMorgan Chase's wholesale businesses, market and economic factors can affect the
volume of transactions that JPMorgan Chase executes for its clients and, therefore, the
revenue that JPMorgan Chase receives from those transactions. These factors can also
influence the willingness of other financial institutions and investors to participate in capital
markets transactions that JPMorgan Chase manages, such as loan syndications or securities
underwritings. Furthermore, if a significant and sustained deterioration in market conditions
were to occur, the profitability of JPMorgan Chase's capital markets businesses could be
reduced to the extent that those businesses:

3.2

•

earn less fee revenue due to lower transaction volumes, including when clients are
unwilling or unable to refinance their outstanding debt obligations in unfavourable
market conditions;

•

dispose of portions of credit commitments, such as loan syndications or securities
underwritings, at a loss; or

•

hold larger residual positions in credit commitments that cannot be sold at favourable
prices.

JPMorgan Chase's investment securities portfolio and market-making positions can
suffer losses due to adverse economic, market and political events and conditions.
JPMorgan Chase generally maintains positions in various fixed income instruments in its
investment securities portfolio, and positions in various fixed income, currency, commodity,
credit and equity instruments as part of its market-making activities. Market-making positions
are intended to facilitate demand from JPMorgan Chase's clients for these instruments and to
provide liquidity for clients. The value of the positions that JPMorgan Chase holds can be
significantly affected by factors such as:
•

JPMorgan Chase's ability to effectively hedge market and other risks on its positions;

•

volatility in interest rates and debt, equity and commodities markets;

•

changes in interest rates and credit spreads; and

•

the availability of liquidity in the capital markets.
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All of these are affected by global economic, market and political events and conditions, as
well as regulatory restrictions on market-making activities.
JPMorgan Chase's investment securities portfolio and market-making businesses can also
suffer losses due to unanticipated market events, including:
•

severe declines in asset values;

•

unexpected credit events;

•

unforeseen events or conditions that may cause previously uncorrelated factors to
become correlated (and vice versa); or

•

other market risks that may not have been appropriately taken into account in the
development, structuring or pricing of a financial instrument.

If JPMorgan Chase experiences significant losses in its investment securities portfolio or from
market-making activities, this could reduce JPMorgan Chase's profitability and its capital
levels, and thereby constrain the growth of its businesses.
3.3

JPMorgan Chase's asset and wealth management and custody businesses may earn
lower fee revenue during adverse macroeconomic conditions.
The fees that JPMorgan Chase earns from managing third-party assets or holding assets in
custody for clients could be diminished by declining asset values or other adverse
macroeconomic conditions. For example, higher interest rates or a downturn in financial
markets could affect the valuations of the client assets that JPMorgan Chase manages or holds
in custody, which, in turn, could affect JPMorgan Chase's revenue from fees that are based on
the amount of assets under management or custody. Similarly, adverse macroeconomic or
market conditions could prompt outflows from JPMorgan Chase's funds or accounts, or cause
clients to invest in products that generate lower revenue. Substantial and unexpected
withdrawals from a JPMorgan Chase fund can also hamper the investment performance of the
fund, particularly if the outflows create the need for the fund to dispose of fund assets at
disadvantageous times or prices, and could lead to further withdrawals based on the weaker
investment performance.

3.4

Changes in interest rates and credit spreads can adversely affect certain of JPMorgan
Chase's revenue and income streams.
JPMorgan Chase can generally be expected to earn higher net interest income when interest
rates are high or increasing. However, higher interest rates can also lead to:
•

fewer originations of commercial and residential loans;

•

lower returns on JPMorgan Chase's investment securities portfolio; and

•

the loss of deposits to the extent that JPMorgan Chase makes incorrect assumptions
about depositor behaviour.

All of these outcomes could adversely affect JPMorgan Chase's revenues and capital levels.
Higher interest rates can also negatively affect the payment performance on loans within
JPMorgan Chase's consumer and wholesale loan portfolios that are linked to variable interest
rates. If borrowers of variable rate loans are unable to afford higher interest payments, those
borrowers may reduce or stop making payments, thereby causing JPMorgan Chase to incur
losses and increased operational costs related to servicing a higher volume of delinquent loans.
On the other hand, a low interest rate environment may cause JPMorgan Chase's net interest
margins to be compressed, which could reduce:
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•

the amounts that JPMorgan Chase earns on its investment securities portfolio to the
extent that it is unable to reinvest contemporaneously in higher-yielding instruments;
and

•

the value of JPMorgan Chase's mortgage servicing rights ("MSRs") asset, thereby
reducing its net interest income and other revenues.

When credit spreads widen, it becomes more expensive for JPMorgan Chase to borrow.
JPMorgan Chase's credit spreads may widen or narrow not only in response to events and
circumstances that are specific to JPMorgan Chase but also as a result of general economic
and geopolitical events and conditions. Changes in JPMorgan Chase's credit spreads will
affect, positively or negatively, JPMorgan Chase's earnings on certain liabilities, such as
derivatives, that are recorded at fair value.
3.5

High market volatility can impact JPMorgan Chase's markets businesses.
While JPMorgan Chase's markets businesses may earn higher flow revenue during periods of
elevated market volatility, sudden and significant volatility in the prices of securities, loans,
derivatives and other instruments can:
•

curtail the trading markets for those instruments;

•

make it difficult to sell or hedge those instruments;

•

increase JPMorgan Chase's funding costs; or

•

adversely affect JPMorgan Chase's profitability, capital or liquidity.

(a)

The Federal Reserve has observed that market volatility may be exacerbated by regulatory
restrictions. It noted that market participants that are subject to section 619 of the Dodd-Frank
Act (the "Volcker Rule") are likely to decrease their market-making activities, and thereby
constrain market liquidity, during periods of market stress. Furthermore, market participants
that are not required to hold substantial amounts of capital may retreat more quickly from
volatile markets, which could further reduce market liquidity.

(b)

In a difficult or less liquid market environment, JPMorgan Chase's risk management strategies
may not be effective because other market participants may be attempting to use the same or
similar strategies. In these circumstances, it may be difficult for JPMorgan Chase to reduce its
risk positions due to the activity of other market participants or widespread market
dislocations.
Sustained volatility in the financial markets may also negatively affect consumer or investor
confidence, which could lead to lower client activity and reduce JPMorgan Chase's revenues.

4.

Credit Risk

4.1

JPMorgan Chase can be adversely affected by the financial condition of its clients,
customers and counterparties.
JPMorgan Chase routinely executes transactions with brokers and dealers, commercial and
investment banks, mutual and hedge funds, investment managers and other types of financial
institutions. Many of these transactions expose JPMorgan Chase to the credit risk of its clients
and counterparties, and can involve JPMorgan Chase in disputes and litigation in the event
that a client or counterparty defaults. JPMorgan Chase can also be subject to losses or liability
where a financial institution that it has appointed to provide custody services for assets of
JPMorgan Chase's clients becomes insolvent.
Disputes may arise with counterparties to derivatives contracts with regard to the terms, the
settlement procedures or the value of underlying collateral. The disposition of those disputes
12
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could cause JPMorgan Chase to incur unexpected transaction, operational and legal costs, or
result in credit losses. These consequences can also impair JPMorgan Chase's ability to
effectively manage its credit risk exposure from its market activities.
4.2

JPMorgan Chase's markets businesses can be harmed by the insolvency of a significant
market participant.
The failure of a significant market participant, or concerns about the creditworthiness of such
a firm, can have a cascading effect within the financial markets. JPMorgan Chase's markets
businesses could be significantly disrupted by such an event, particularly if it leads to other
market participants incurring significant losses, experiencing liquidity issues or defaulting.

4.3

JPMorgan Chase's clearing services business is exposed to the risk of client or
counterparty default.
As part of its clearing services activities, JPMorgan Chase is a member of various central
counterparty clearinghouses ("CCPs"). In the event that another member of such an
organisation defaults on its obligations to the CCP, JPMorgan Chase may be required to pay a
portion of any losses incurred by the CCP as a result of that default. As a clearing member,
JPMorgan Chase is also exposed to the risk of non-performance by its clients, which it seeks
to mitigate by requiring clients to provide adequate collateral. JPMorgan Chase is exposed to
intra-day credit risk of its clients in connection with providing cash management, clearing,
custodial and other transaction services to those clients. If a client for which JPMorgan Chase
provides these services becomes bankrupt or insolvent, JPMorgan Chase may incur losses,
become involved in disputes and litigation with one or more CCPs, the client's bankruptcy
estate and other creditors, or be subject to regulatory investigations. All of the foregoing
events can increase JPMorgan Chase's operational and litigation costs, and JPMorgan Chase
may suffer losses to the extent that any collateral that it has received is insufficient to cover
those losses.

4.4

JPMorgan Chase may suffer losses if the value of collateral declines in stressed market
conditions.
During periods of market stress or illiquidity, JPMorgan Chase's credit risk may be further
increased when JPMorgan Chase cannot realise the fair value of the collateral held by it or
when collateral is liquidated at prices that are not sufficient to recover the full amount of the
loan, derivative or other exposure due to it. Furthermore, disputes with counterparties
concerning the valuation of collateral may increase in times of significant market stress,
volatility or illiquidity, and JPMorgan Chase could suffer losses during these periods if it is
unable to realise the fair value of collateral or to manage declines in the value of collateral.

4.5

JPMorgan Chase could incur significant losses arising from concentrations of credit and
market risk.
JPMorgan Chase is exposed to greater credit and market risk to the extent that groupings of its
clients or counterparties:
•

engage in similar businesses;

•

do business in the same geographic region; or

•

have business profiles, models or strategies that could cause their ability to meet their
obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic conditions.

For example, a significant deterioration in the credit quality of one of JPMorgan Chase's
borrowers or counterparties could lead to concerns about the creditworthiness of other
borrowers or counterparties in similar, related or dependent industries. This type of
interrelationship could exacerbate JPMorgan Chase's credit and market risk exposure and
potentially cause it to incur losses, including fair value losses in its trading businesses.
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Similarly, challenging economic conditions that affect a particular industry or geographic area
could lead to concerns about the credit quality of JPMorgan Chase's borrowers or
counterparties not only in that particular industry or geography but in related or dependent
industries, wherever located. These conditions could also heighten concerns about the ability
of customers of JPMorgan Chase's consumer businesses who live in those areas or work in
those affected industries or related or dependent industries to meet their obligations to
JPMorgan Chase. JPMorgan Chase regularly monitors various segments of its credit and
market risk exposures to assess the potential risks of concentration or contagion, but its efforts
to diversify or hedge its exposures against those risks may not be successful.
JPMorgan Chase's consumer businesses can also be harmed by an excessive, industry-wide
expansion of consumer credit. For example, heightened competition among financial
institutions for certain types of consumer loans, including credit card, mortgage, auto or other
loans, could prompt significant reductions in the pricing of those loans and thereby decrease
their profitability, or result in loans being extended to less-creditworthy borrowers. If large
numbers of consumers subsequently default on their loans, whether due to weak credit
profiles, an economic downturn or other factors, this could impair their ability to repay
obligations owed to JPMorgan Chase and result in higher charge-offs and other credit-related
losses. More broadly, widespread defaults on consumer debt could lead to recessionary
conditions in the U.S. economy, and JPMorgan Chase's consumer businesses may earn lower
revenues in such an environment.
Disruptions in the liquidity or transparency of the financial markets could cause JPMorgan
Chase to be unable to sell, syndicate or realise the value of its positions in various debt
instruments, loans, derivatives and other obligations, and thereby lead to increased risk
concentrations. If JPMorgan Chase is unable to reduce positions effectively during a market
dislocation, this can increase both the market and credit risks associated with those positions
and the level of risk-weighted assets ("RWA") that JPMorgan Chase holds on its balance
sheet. These factors could increase JPMorgan Chase's capital requirements and funding costs
and adversely affect the profitability of JPMorgan Chase's businesses.
5.

Liquidity Risk

5.1

Liquidity is critical to JPMorgan Chase's ability to fund and operate its businesses.
JPMorgan Chase's liquidity could be impaired at any given time by factors such as:
•

market-wide illiquidity or disruption;

•

unforeseen cash or capital requirements;

•

inability to sell assets, or to sell assets at favourable times or prices;

•

default by a CCP or other significant market participant;

•

unanticipated outflows of cash or collateral; and

•

lack of market or customer confidence in JPMorgan Chase or financial institutions in
general.

A diminution of JPMorgan Chase's liquidity may be caused by events over which it has little
or no control. For example, during the 2008-2009 financial crisis, periods of low investor
confidence and significant market illiquidity resulted in higher funding costs for JPMorgan
Chase and limited its access to some of its traditional sources of liquidity, including
securitised debt issuances. There is no assurance that severe conditions of this type will not
occur in the future.
JPMorgan Chase may need to raise funding from alternative sources if its access to stable and
lower-cost sources of funding, such as bank deposits and borrowings from Federal Home
Loan Banks, is reduced. Alternative sources of funding could be more expensive or limited in
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availability. JPMorgan Chase's funding costs could also be negatively affected by actions that
JPMorgan Chase may take in order to:
•

satisfy applicable liquidity coverage ratio and net stable funding ratio requirements;

•

continue to satisfy requirements under the TLAC rules concerning the amount of
eligible LTD that JPMorgan Chase must have outstanding;

•

address obligations under its resolution plan; or

•

satisfy regulatory requirements in countries outside the U.S. relating to the prepositioning of liquidity in subsidiaries that are material legal entities.

More generally, if JPMorgan Chase fails to effectively manage its liquidity, this could
constrain its ability to fund or invest in its businesses, and thereby adversely affect its results
of operations.
5.2

JPMorgan Chase & Co. is a holding company and depends on the cash flows of its
subsidiaries to make payments on its outstanding securities.
JPMorgan Chase & Co. is a holding company that holds the stock of JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A. and an intermediate holding company, JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC (the "IHC"). The
IHC in turn holds the stock of substantially all of JPMorgan Chase's subsidiaries other than
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and its subsidiaries. The IHC also owns other assets and
intercompany indebtedness owing to the holding company.
The holding company is obligated to contribute to the IHC substantially all the net proceeds
received from securities issuances (including issuances of senior and subordinated debt
securities and of preferred and common stock).
The ability of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and the IHC to make payments to the holding
company is also limited. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. is subject to restrictions on its dividend
distributions, as well as capital adequacy and liquidity requirements and other regulatory
restrictions on its ability to make payments to the holding company. The IHC is prohibited
from paying dividends or extending credit to the holding company if certain capital or
liquidity "thresholds" are breached or if limits are otherwise imposed by JPMorgan Chase's
management or Board of Directors.
As a result of these arrangements, the ability of the holding company to make various
payments is dependent on its receiving dividends from JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and
dividends and extensions of credit from the IHC. These limitations could affect the holding
company's ability to:
•

pay interest on its debt securities;

•

pay dividends on its equity securities;

•

redeem or repurchase outstanding securities; and

•

fulfill its other payment obligations.

Collectively, these regulatory restrictions and limitations could significantly limit the holding
company's ability to pay dividends and satisfy its debt and other obligations. They could also
result in the holding company seeking protection under bankruptcy laws at a time earlier than
would have been the case absent the existence of those thresholds.
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5.3

Reductions in JPMorgan Chase's credit ratings may adversely affect its liquidity and
cost of funding.
JPMorgan Chase and certain of its principal subsidiaries are rated by credit rating agencies.
Rating agencies evaluate both general and firm- and industry-specific factors when
determining their credit ratings for a particular financial institution, including:
•

economic and geopolitical trends;

•

regulatory developments;

•

expected future profitability;

•

risk management practices;

•

legal expenses;

•

assumptions about government support; and

•

ratings differentials between bank holding companies and their bank and non-bank
subsidiaries.

JPMorgan Chase closely monitors and manages, to the extent that it is able, factors that could
influence its credit ratings. However, there is no assurance that JPMorgan Chase's credit
ratings will not be lowered in the future. Furthermore, any such downgrade could occur at
times of broader market instability when JPMorgan Chase's options for responding to events
may be more limited and general investor confidence is low.
A reduction in JPMorgan Chase's credit ratings could curtail JPMorgan Chase's business
activities and reduce its profitability in a number of ways, including by:
•

reducing access to capital markets;

•

materially increasing the cost of issuing and servicing securities;

•

triggering additional collateral or funding requirements; and

•

decreasing the number of investors and counterparties that are willing or permitted to
do business with or lend to JPMorgan Chase.

Any rating reduction could also increase the credit spreads charged by the market for taking
credit risk on JPMorgan Chase & Co. and its subsidiaries. This could, in turn, adversely affect
the value of debt and other obligations of JPMorgan Chase & Co. and its subsidiaries.
5.4

Regulation and reform of benchmarks could have adverse consequences on securities
and other instruments that are linked to those benchmarks.
Interest rate, equity, foreign exchange rate and other types of indices which are deemed to be
"benchmarks" are the subject of recent international, national and other regulatory guidance
and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective while others are still to
be implemented. These reforms may cause benchmarks to perform differently than in the past,
or to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be fully anticipated.
Any of the international, national or other proposals for reform or the general increased
regulatory scrutiny of benchmarks could also increase the costs and risks of administering or
otherwise participating in the setting of benchmarks and complying with any such regulations
or requirements. Such factors may have the effect of discouraging market participants from
continuing to administer or contribute to certain benchmarks, trigger changes in the rules or
methodologies used in certain benchmarks or lead to the disappearance of certain benchmarks.
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On 27 July, 2017, the Chief Executive of the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority (the "FCA"),
which regulates the London interbank offered rate ("LIBOR"), announced that the FCA will
no longer persuade or compel banks to submit rates for the calculation of the LIBOR
benchmark after 2021. This announcement indicates that the continuation of LIBOR on the
current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed after 2021, and it appears likely that LIBOR
will be discontinued or modified by 2021.
Any of these developments, and any future initiatives to regulate, reform or change the manner
of administration of benchmarks, could result in adverse consequences to the return on, value
of and market for securities and other instruments whose returns are linked to any such
benchmark, including those issued by JPMSP.
6.

Operational Risks

6.1

JPMorgan Chase's businesses are highly dependent on the effectiveness of its operational
systems and those of other market participants.
JPMorgan Chase's businesses rely comprehensively on the ability of JPMorgan Chase's
financial, accounting, trading, data processing and other operational systems to process,
record, monitor and report a large number of transactions on a continuous basis, and to do so
accurately and quickly. In addition to proper design, installation, maintenance and training, the
effective functioning of JPMorgan Chase's operational systems depends on, among other
things:
•

the quality of the information contained in those systems, as inaccurate, outdated or
corrupted data can significantly compromise the functionality of a particular
operational system and other systems to which it transmits information; and

•

JPMorgan Chase's ability to appropriately maintain and upgrade its systems on a
regular basis, and to ensure that any changes introduced to its systems are managed
carefully to ensure operational continuity.

JPMorgan Chase also depends on its ability to access and use the operational systems of its
vendors, custodians and other market participants, including clearing and payment systems,
CCPs, securities exchanges and data processing, security and technology companies.
The ineffectiveness, failure or other disruption of the operational systems of JPMorgan Chase
or another significant market participant, including due to a cyberbreach, could result in
unfavourable ripple effects in the financial markets and for JPMorgan Chase and its clients
and customers, including:
•

delays or other disruptions in providing information, services and liquidity to clients
and customers;

•

the inability to settle transactions or obtain access to funds and other assets;

•

the possibility that transactions such as funds transfers or capital markets trades are
executed erroneously, illegally or with unintended consequences;

•

financial losses, including possible restitution to clients and customers;

•

higher operational costs associated with replacing services provided by a system that
is unavailable;

•

customer dissatisfaction and loss of confidence in JPMorgan Chase's products and
services; and

•

harm to reputation.
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Furthermore, the interconnectivity of multiple financial institutions with central agents, CCPs,
payment processors, securities exchanges, clearing houses and other financial market
infrastructures, and the increased importance of these entities, increases the risk that an
operational failure at one institution or entity may cause an industry-wide operational failure
that could materially affect JPMorgan Chase's ability to conduct business.
As the speed, frequency, volume and complexity of transactions increases, it becomes more
challenging to effectively maintain JPMorgan Chase's operational systems and infrastructure,
especially due to the heightened risks that:
•

errors, whether inadvertent or malicious, cause widespread system disruption;

•

isolated or seemingly insignificant errors in operational systems compound, or
migrate to other systems over time, to become larger issues;

•

failures in synchronisation or encryption software, or degraded performance of
microprocessors due to design flaws, causes disruptions in operational systems, or the
inability of systems to communicate with each other; and

•

third parties attempt to block the use of key technology solutions by claiming that the
use infringes on their intellectual property rights.

If JPMorgan Chase's operational systems, or those of third parties on which JPMorgan Chase's
businesses depend, are unable to meet the demanding standards of JPMorgan Chase's
businesses and operations, or if they fail or have other significant shortcomings, JPMorgan
Chase could be materially and adversely affected.
6.2

JPMorgan Chase relies on the skill and integrity of its employees and those of third
parties in running its operational systems.
The effective functioning of JPMorgan Chase's operational systems also depends on the
competence and reliability of its employees, as well as the employees of third parties on whom
JPMorgan Chase depends for technological support, security or other services. JPMorgan
Chase could be materially and adversely affected by a significant operational breakdown or
failure caused by human error or misconduct by an employee of JPMorgan Chase or a third
party.

6.3

JPMorgan Chase can be negatively affected if it fails to identify and address operational
risks associated with new products or processes.
When JPMorgan Chase changes processes or introduces new products and services or new
connectivity solutions, JPMorgan Chase may not fully appreciate or identify new operational
risks that may arise from those changes, or may fail to implement adequate controls to
mitigate the risks associated with new business activities. Any of these occurrences could
diminish JPMorgan Chase's ability to operate one or more of its businesses or result in:
•

potential liability to clients and customers;

•

increased operating expenses;

•

higher litigation costs, including regulatory fines, penalties and other sanctions;

•

damage to JPMorgan Chase's reputation;

•

impairment of JPMorgan Chase's liquidity;

•

regulatory intervention; or

•

weaker competitive standing.
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Any of the foregoing consequences could materially and adversely affect JPMorgan Chase's
businesses and results of operations.
6.4

JPMorgan Chase's connections to third-party operational systems expose it to greater
operational risks.
Third parties with which JPMorgan Chase does business, as well as retailers, data aggregators
and other third parties with which JPMorgan Chase's customers do business, can also be
sources of operational risk to JPMorgan Chase. This is particularly the case where activities of
customers or those third parties are beyond JPMorgan Chase's security and control systems,
including through the use of the internet, personal smart phones and other mobile devices or
services.
If a third party obtains access to customer account data on JPMorgan Chase's systems, and that
third party experiences a cyberbreach of its own systems or misappropriates that data, this
could result in a variety of negative outcomes for JPMorgan Chase and its customers,
including:
•

heightened risk that third parties will be able to execute fraudulent transactions using
JPMorgan Chase's systems;

•

losses from fraudulent transactions, as well as potential liability for losses that exceed
thresholds established in consumer protection laws and regulations;

•

increased operational costs to remediate the consequences of the third party's security
breach; and

•

harm to reputation arising from the perception that JPMorgan Chase's systems may
not be secure.

As JPMorgan Chase's interconnectivity with customers and other third parties expands,
JPMorgan Chase increasingly faces the risk of operational failure with respect to their
systems. Security breaches affecting JPMorgan Chase's customers, or systems breakdowns or
failures, security breaches or human error or misconduct affecting those other third parties,
may require JPMorgan Chase to take steps to protect the integrity of its own operational
systems or to safeguard confidential information. These actions can increase JPMorgan
Chase's operational costs and potentially diminish customer satisfaction.
6.5

JPMorgan Chase faces substantial legal and operational risks in safeguarding personal
information.
JPMorgan Chase's businesses are subject to complex and evolving laws and regulations, both
within and outside the U.S., governing the privacy and protection of personal information of
individuals. The protected parties can include:
•

JPMorgan Chase's clients and customers;

•

clients and customers of JPMorgan Chase's clients and customers;

•

JPMorgan Chase's employees; and

•

employees of JPMorgan Chase's suppliers, counterparties and other third parties.

Ensuring that JPMorgan Chase's collection, use, transfer and storage of personal information
comply with all applicable laws and regulations in all relevant jurisdictions, including where
the laws of different jurisdictions are in conflict, can:
•

increase JPMorgan Chase's operating costs;

•

affect the development of new products or services;
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•

demand significant oversight by JPMorgan Chase's management; and

•

require JPMorgan Chase to structure its businesses, operations and systems in less
efficient ways.

Furthermore, JPMorgan Chase cannot ensure that all of its clients and customers, suppliers,
counterparties and other third parties have appropriate controls in place to protect the
confidentiality of the information exchanged between them and JPMorgan Chase, particularly
where information is transmitted by electronic means. JPMorgan Chase could be exposed to
litigation or regulatory fines, penalties or other sanctions if personal, confidential or
proprietary information of clients, customers, employees or others were to be mishandled or
misused, such as situations where such information is:
•

erroneously provided to parties who are not permitted to have the information; or

•

intercepted or otherwise compromised by third parties.

Concerns regarding the effectiveness of JPMorgan Chase's measures to safeguard personal
information, or even the perception that those measures are inadequate, could cause JPMorgan
Chase to lose existing or potential clients and customers, and thereby reduce JPMorgan
Chase's revenues. Furthermore, any failure or perceived failure by JPMorgan Chase to comply
with applicable privacy or data protection laws and regulations may subject it to inquiries,
examinations and investigations that could result in requirements to modify or cease certain
operations or practices, significant liabilities or regulatory fines, penalties or other sanctions.
Any of these could damage JPMorgan Chase's reputation and otherwise adversely affect its
businesses.
6.6

JPMorgan Chase's operations and results could be vulnerable to catastrophes or other
events that disrupt its business.
JPMorgan Chase's business and operational systems could be seriously disrupted by events
that are wholly or partially beyond its control, including:
•

cyberbreaches or breaches of physical premises;

•

electrical or telecommunications outages;

•

failures of, or loss of access to, operational systems, including computer systems,
servers, networks and other technology assets;

•

damage to or loss of property or assets;

•

natural disasters or severe weather conditions;

•

health emergencies or pandemics; or

•

events arising from local or larger-scale political events, including outbreaks of
hostilities or terrorist acts.

JPMorgan Chase maintains a global resiliency and crisis management programme that is
intended to ensure the ability to recover critical business functions and supporting assets,
including staff, technology and facilities, in the event of a business interruption. There can be
no assurance that JPMorgan Chase's resiliency plans will fully mitigate all potential business
continuity risks to JPMorgan Chase or its clients and customers. Any significant failure or
disruption of JPMorgan Chase's operations or operational systems could, among other things:
•

hinder its ability to provide services to its clients and customers;

•

require it to expend significant resources to correct the failure or disruption;
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6.7

•

cause it to incur financial losses, both from loss of revenue and damage to or loss of
property; and

•

expose it to litigation or regulatory fines, penalties or other sanctions.

A successful cyberattack against JPMorgan Chase could cause significant harm to
JPMorgan Chase or its clients and customers.
JPMorgan Chase experiences numerous cyberattacks on its computer systems, software,
networks and other technology assets on a daily basis. These cyberattacks can take many
forms, but a common objective of many of these attacks is to introduce computer viruses or
malware into JPMorgan Chase's systems. These viruses or malicious code are typically
designed to, among other things:
•

obtain unauthorised access to confidential information belonging to JPMorgan Chase
or its clients and customers;

•

manipulate or destroy data;

•

disrupt, sabotage or degrade service on JPMorgan Chase's systems; or

•

steal money.

JPMorgan Chase has also been the target of significant distributed denial-of-service attacks
which are intended to disrupt online banking services.
JPMorgan Chase devotes significant resources to maintain and regularly upgrade its systems
to protect them against cyberattacks. However, JPMorgan Chase has experienced security
breaches due to cyberattacks in the past, and it is inevitable that additional breaches will occur
in the future. Any such breach could result in serious and harmful consequences for JPMorgan
Chase or its clients and customers.
A principal reason that JPMorgan Chase cannot provide absolute security against cyberattacks
is that it may not always be possible to anticipate, detect or recognise threats to JPMorgan
Chase's systems, or to implement effective preventive measures against all breaches. This is
because, among other things:
•

the techniques used in cyberattacks change frequently and may not be recognised
until launched;

•

cyberattacks can originate from a wide variety of sources, including third parties who
are or may be involved in organised crime or linked to terrorist organisations or
hostile foreign governments; and

•

third parties may seek to gain access to JPMorgan Chase's systems either directly or
using equipment or security passwords belonging to employees, customers, thirdparty service providers or other users of JPMorgan Chase's systems.

The risk of a security breach due to a cyberattack could increase in the future as JPMorgan
Chase continues to expand its mobile-payment and other internet-based product offerings and
its internal use of web-based products and applications.
A successful penetration or circumvention of the security of JPMorgan Chase's systems or the
systems of a supplier, governmental body or another market participant could cause serious
negative consequences, including:
•

significant disruption of JPMorgan Chase's operations and those of its clients,
customers and counterparties, including losing access to operational systems;
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•

misappropriation of confidential information of JPMorgan Chase or that of its clients,
customers, counterparties or employees;

•

damage to computers or systems of JPMorgan Chase and those of its clients,
customers and counterparties;

•

inability to fully recover and restore data that has been stolen, manipulated or
destroyed, or to prevent systems from processing fraudulent transactions;

•

violations by JPMorgan Chase of applicable privacy and other laws;

•

financial loss to JPMorgan Chase or to its clients and customers;

•

loss of confidence in JPMorgan Chase's cybersecurity measures;

•

client and customer dissatisfaction;

•

significant exposure to litigation and regulatory fines, penalties or other sanctions; or

•

harm to JPMorgan Chase's reputation.

JPMorgan Chase could also suffer some of the above consequences if a third party were to
misappropriate confidential information obtained by intercepting signals or communications
from mobile devices used by JPMorgan Chase's employees.
6.8

JPMorgan Chase may not be able to immediately address the consequences of a security
breach due to a cyberattack.
A successful breach of JPMorgan Chase's computer systems, software, networks or other
technology assets due to a cyberattack could occur and persist for an extended period of time
before being detected due to, among other things:
•

the breadth of JPMorgan Chase's operations and the high volume of transactions that
it processes;

•

the large number of customers, counterparties and third-party service providers with
which JPMorgan Chase does business;

•

the proliferation and increasing sophistication of cyberattacks; and

•

the possibility that a third party, after establishing a foothold on an internal network
without being detected, might obtain access to other networks and systems.

The extent of a particular cyberattack and the steps that JPMorgan Chase may need to take to
investigate the attack may not be immediately clear, and it may take a significant amount of
time before such an investigation can be completed and full and reliable information about the
attack is known. While such an investigation is ongoing, JPMorgan Chase may not necessarily
know the extent of the harm or how best to remediate it, and certain errors or actions could be
repeated or compounded before they are discovered and remediated, any or all of which could
further increase the costs and consequences of a cyberattack.
6.9

JPMorgan Chase's risk management framework and procedures may not be effective in
identifying and mitigating every risk to JPMorgan Chase.
JPMorgan Chase's risk management framework is intended to mitigate risk and loss.
JPMorgan Chase has established processes and procedures to identify, measure, monitor,
report and analyse the types of risk to which JPMorgan Chase is subject. However, there are
inherent limitations to risk management strategies because there may be existing or future
risks that JPMorgan Chase has not appropriately anticipated or identified.
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JPMorgan Chase could be exposed to unexpected losses, and JPMorgan Chase's financial
condition or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected, by any
inadequacy or lapse in its risk management framework, governance structure, procedures and
practices, models or reporting systems. An inadequacy or lapse could:
•

require significant resources to remediate;

•

attract heightened regulatory scrutiny;

•

expose JPMorgan Chase to regulatory investigations or legal proceedings;

•

subject it to litigation or regulatory fines, penalties or other sanctions;

•

harm its reputation; or

•

diminish confidence in JPMorgan Chase.

JPMorgan Chase relies on data to assess its various risk exposures. Any deficiencies in the
quality or effectiveness of JPMorgan Chase's data gathering and validation processes could
result in ineffective risk management practices. These deficiencies could also result in
inaccurate risk reporting.
JPMorgan Chase establishes allowances for probable credit losses that are inherent in its credit
exposures. It then employs stress testing and other techniques to determine the capital and
liquidity necessary in the event of adverse economic or market events. These processes are
critical to JPMorgan Chase's results of operations and financial condition. They require
difficult, subjective and complex judgments, including forecasts of how economic conditions
might impair the ability of JPMorgan Chase's borrowers and counterparties to repay their
loans or other obligations. It is possible that JPMorgan Chase will fail to identify the proper
factors or that it will fail to accurately estimate the impact of factors that it identifies.
Many of JPMorgan Chase's risk management strategies and techniques consider historical
market behaviour. These strategies and techniques are based to some degree on management's
subjective judgment. For example, many models used by JPMorgan Chase are based on
assumptions regarding correlations among prices of various asset classes or other market
indicators. In times of market stress, including difficult or less liquid market environments, or
in the event of other unforeseen circumstances, previously uncorrelated indicators may
become correlated. Conversely, previously-correlated indicators may make unrelated
movements at those times. Sudden market movements and unanticipated or unidentified
market or economic movements have, in some circumstances, limited the effectiveness of
JPMorgan Chase's risk management strategies, causing it to incur losses.
6.10

JPMorgan Chase could incur significant losses and face greater regulatory scrutiny if its
models or estimations are inadequate.
JPMorgan Chase has developed and uses a variety of models and other analytical and
judgment-based estimations to assess and implement mitigating controls over its market,
credit, operational and other risks. These models and estimations are based on a variety of
assumptions and historical trends, and are periodically reviewed and modified as necessary.
The models and estimations that JPMorgan Chase uses may not be effective in all cases to
observe and mitigate risk due to a variety of factors, such as:
•

reliance on historical trends that may not accurately predict future events, including
assumptions underlying the models and estimations which predict correlation among
certain market indicators or asset prices;

•

inherent limitations associated with forecasting uncertain economic and financial
outcomes;
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•

historical trend information may be incomplete, or may not anticipate severely
negative market conditions such as extreme volatility, dislocation or lack of liquidity;

•

technology that is introduced to run models or estimations may not perform as
expected, or may not be well understood by the personnel using the technology;

•

models and estimations may contain erroneous data, valuations, formulas or
algorithms; and

•

review processes may fail to detect flaws in models and estimations.

JPMorgan Chase could incur substantial losses, its capital levels could be reduced and it could
face greater regulatory scrutiny if its models or estimations prove to be inadequate.
Some of the models and other analytical and judgment-based estimations used by JPMorgan
Chase in managing risks are subject to review by, and require the approval of, JPMorgan
Chase's regulators. These reviews are required before JPMorgan Chase may use those models
and estimations in connection with calculating market risk RWA, credit risk RWA and
operational risk RWA under Basel III. If JPMorgan Chase's models or estimations are not
approved by its regulators, it may be subject to higher capital charges, which could adversely
affect its financial results or limit the ability to expand its businesses. JPMorgan Chase's
capital actions could also be constrained if a submission under the Federal Reserve's annual
Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review ("CCAR") Framework is not approved by its
banking regulators due to the perceived inadequacy of its models or estimations.
6.11

Enhanced standards for vendor risk management can result in higher costs and other
potential exposures.
JPMorgan Chase must comply with enhanced standards for the assessment and management
of risks associated with doing business with vendors and other third-party service providers.
These requirements are contained both in bank regulatory regulations and guidance and in
certain consent orders to which JPMorgan Chase has been subject. JPMorgan Chase incurs
significant costs and expenses in connection with its initiatives to address the risks associated
with oversight of its third party relationships. JPMorgan Chase's failure to appropriately assess
and manage third-party relationships, especially those involving significant banking functions,
shared services or other critical activities, could materially adversely affect JPMorgan Chase.
Specifically, any such failure could subject JPMorgan Chase to:

6.12

•

potential liability to clients and customers;

•

regulatory fines, penalties or other sanctions;

•

increased operational costs; or

•

harm to its reputation.

Requirements for physical settlement and delivery in trading agreements could expose
JPMorgan Chase to operational and other risks.
Certain of JPMorgan Chase's markets transactions require the physical settlement by delivery
of securities or other obligations that JPMorgan Chase does not own. If JPMorgan Chase is
unable to obtain the obligations within the required timeframe, JPMorgan Chase could forfeit
payments otherwise due. Failures could also result in settlement delays, which could damage
JPMorgan Chase's reputation and ability to transact business. Failure to timely settle and
confirm transactions could also subject JPMorgan Chase to heightened credit and operational
risk, and in the event of a default, market and operational losses.
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6.13

JPMorgan Chase could incur unexpected losses if estimates and judgments underlying
its financial statements are incorrect.
Under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"), JPMorgan Chase is
required to use estimates and apply judgments in preparing its financial statements, including
in determining allowances for credit losses and reserves related to litigation, among other
items. Certain financial instruments require a determination of their fair value in order to
prepare JPMorgan Chase's financial statements, including:
•

trading assets and liabilities;

•

instruments in the investment securities portfolio;

•

certain loans;

•

MSRs;

•

structured notes; and

•

certain repurchase and resale agreements.

Where quoted market prices are not available for these types of instruments, JPMorgan Chase
may make fair value determinations based on internally developed models or other means
which ultimately rely to some degree on management estimates and judgment. Sudden
illiquidity in markets or declines in prices of certain loans and securities may make it more
difficult to value certain balance sheet items, which could lead to valuations being
subsequently changed or adjusted. If estimates or judgments underlying JPMorgan Chase's
financial statements prove to have been incorrect, JPMorgan Chase may experience material
losses.
6.14

Lapses in controls over disclosure or financial reporting could materially affect
JPMorgan Chase's profitability or reputation.
There can be no assurance that JPMorgan Chase's disclosure controls and procedures will be
effective in every circumstance, or that a material weakness or significant deficiency in
internal control over financial reporting will not occur. Any such lapses or deficiencies could:
•

materially and adversely affect JPMorgan Chase's business and results of operations
or financial condition;

•

restrict its ability to access the capital markets;

•

require it to expend significant resources to correct the lapses or deficiencies;

•

expose it to litigation or regulatory fines, penalties or other sanctions;

•

harm its reputation; or

•

otherwise diminish investor confidence in JPMorgan Chase.

7.

Strategic Risk

7.1

If JPMorgan Chase's management fails to develop and execute effective business
strategies, JPMorgan Chase's competitive standing and results could suffer.
JPMorgan Chase's business strategies significantly affect its competitive standing and results
of operations. These strategies relate to:
•

the products and services that JPMorgan Chase offers;
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•

the geographies in which it operates;

•

the types of clients and customers that it serves;

•

the counterparties with which it does business; and

•

the methods and distribution channels by which it offers products and services.

The franchise values and growth prospects of JPMorgan Chase's businesses, and its earnings
and results of operations, may suffer and revenues could decline if management makes choices
about these strategies and goals that:
•

prove to be incorrect;

•

do not accurately assess the competitive landscape and industry trends; or

•

fail to address changing regulatory and market environments in the U.S. and abroad.

JPMorgan Chase's growth and prospects also depend on management's ability to develop and
execute effective business plans to address these strategic priorities, both in the near term and
over longer time horizons. Management's effectiveness in this regard will affect JPMorgan
Chase's ability to develop and enhance its resources, control expenses and return capital to
shareholders. Each of these objectives could be adversely affected by management's failure to:
•

devise effective business plans and strategies;

•

effectively implement business decisions, including by minimising bureaucratic
processes;

•

institute controls that appropriately address the risks associated with business
activities and any changes in those activities;

•

offer products and services that meet the expectations of clients and customers, and in
ways that enhance their satisfaction with those products and services;

•

allocate capital to JPMorgan Chase's businesses in a manner that promotes their longterm profitability;

•

adequately respond to regulatory requirements;

•

appropriately address shareholder concerns;

•

react quickly to changes in market conditions or market structures; or

•

develop and enhance the operational, technology, risk, financial and managerial
resources necessary to grow and manage JPMorgan Chase's businesses.

Additionally, JPMorgan Chase's Board of Directors plays an important role in exercising
appropriate oversight of management's strategic decisions, and a failure by the Board to
perform this function could also impair JPMorgan Chase's results of operations.
8.

Conduct Risks

8.1

Misconduct by JPMorgan Chase employees can harm its clients and customers, damage
its reputation and trigger litigation and regulatory action.
JPMorgan Chase's employees interact with clients, customers and counterparties, and with
each other, every day. All employees are expected to demonstrate values and exhibit the
culture and behaviours that are an integral part of JPMorgan Chase's How We Do Business
Principles, including JPMorgan Chase's commitment to "do first class business in a first class
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way." JPMorgan Chase endeavours to embed culture and conduct risk management
throughout an employee's life cycle, including recruiting, onboarding, training and
development, and performance management. Culture and conduct risk management are also
important to JPMorgan Chase's promotion and compensation processes.
Notwithstanding these expectations, policies and practices, certain employees have in the past
engaged in improper or illegal conduct resulting in litigation as well as settlements involving
consent orders, deferred prosecution agreements and non-prosecution agreements, as well as
other civil and criminal settlements with regulators and other governmental entities. There is
no assurance that further inappropriate actions by employees will not occur or that any such
actions will always be deterred or quickly prevented.
JPMorgan Chase's reputation could be harmed, and collateral consequences could result, from
a failure by one or more employees to act consistently with JPMorgan Chase's expectations,
including by acting in ways that harm clients, customers, other market participants or other
employees. Some examples of this include:
•

improperly selling and marketing JPMorgan Chase's products or services;

•

engaging in insider trading, market manipulation or unauthorised trading;

•

facilitating illegal or aggressive tax-motivated transactions, or transactions designed
to circumvent economic sanction programmes;

•

failing to fulfill fiduciary obligations or other duties owed to clients or customers;

•

violating anti-trust or anti-competition laws by colluding with other market
participants to manipulate markets, prices or indices;

•

making risk decisions in ways that subordinate JPMorgan Chase's risk appetite to
employee compensation objectives; and

•

misappropriating property or confidential or proprietary information or technology
belonging to JPMorgan Chase, its clients and customers or third parties.

The consequences of any failure by employees to act consistently with JPMorgan Chase's
expectations could include litigation, or regulatory or other governmental investigations or
enforcement actions. Any of these proceedings or actions could result in judgments,
settlements, fines, penalties or other sanctions, or lead to:
•

financial losses;

•

increased operational and compliance costs;

•

greater regulatory scrutiny;

•

requirements that JPMorgan Chase restructure, curtail or cease certain of its
activities;

•

the need for significant oversight by JPMorgan Chase's management;

•

the undermining of JPMorgan Chase's culture;

•

loss of clients or customers; and

•

harm to JPMorgan Chase's reputation.
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9.

Reputation Risks

9.1

Damage to JPMorgan Chase's reputation could harm its businesses.
Maintaining trust in JPMorgan Chase is critical to its ability to attract and retain clients,
customers, investors and employees. Damage to JPMorgan Chase's reputation can therefore
cause significant harm to JPMorgan Chase's business and prospects. Harm to JPMorgan
Chase's reputation can arise from numerous sources, including:
•

employee misconduct;

•

security breaches;

•

compliance failures;

•

litigation or regulatory fines, penalties or other sanctions; or

•

regulatory investigations, enforcement actions or settlements.

JPMorgan Chase's reputation could also be harmed by the failure or perceived failure of
certain third parties to comply with laws or regulations, including companies in which
JPMorgan Chase has made principal investments, parties to joint ventures with JPMorgan
Chase, and vendors and other third parties with which JPMorgan Chase does business.
JPMorgan Chase's reputation or prospects may be significantly damaged by adverse publicity
or negative information regarding JPMorgan Chase, whether or not true, that may be posted
on social media, non-mainstream news services or other parts of the internet, and this risk can
be magnified by the speed and pervasiveness with which information is disseminated through
those channels.
Actions by the financial services industry generally or by certain members of or individuals in
the industry can also affect JPMorgan Chase's reputation. For example, concerns that
consumers have been treated unfairly by a financial institution, or that a financial institution
has acted inappropriately with respect to the methods used to offer products to customers, can
damage the reputation of the industry as a whole. If JPMorgan Chase is perceived to have
engaged in these types of behaviours, the measures needed to address the associated
reputational issues could increase JPMorgan Chase's operational and compliance costs and
negatively affect its earnings. Furthermore, events that undermine JPMorgan Chase's
reputation can hinder its ability to attract and retain clients, customers, investors and
employees.
9.2

Failure to effectively manage potential conflicts of interest can result in litigation and
enforcement actions, as well as damage JPMorgan Chase's reputation.
JPMorgan Chase's ability to manage potential conflicts of interest has become increasingly
complex as its business activities encompass more transactions, obligations and interests with
and among JPMorgan Chase's clients and customers. JPMorgan Chase can become subject to
litigation and enforcement actions, and its reputation can be damaged, by the failure or
perceived failure to, among other things:
•

adequately address or appropriately disclose conflicts of interest;

•

deliver appropriate standards of service and quality;

•

treat clients and customers fairly;

•

use client and customer data responsibly and in a manner that meets legal
requirements and regulatory expectations;
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•

provide fiduciary products or services in accordance with the applicable legal and
regulatory standards; or

•

handle or use confidential information of customers or clients appropriately or in
compliance with applicable data protection and privacy laws and regulations.

In the future, a failure or perceived failure to appropriately address conflicts or fiduciary
obligations could result in customer dissatisfaction, litigation and regulatory fines, penalties or
other sanctions, and heightened regulatory scrutiny and enforcement actions, all of which can
lead to lost revenue and higher operating costs and cause serious harm to JPMorgan Chase's
reputation.
10.

Country Risks

10.1

JPMorgan Chase can incur losses due to unfavourable economic developments around
the world.
JPMorgan Chase's businesses and earnings are affected by the monetary, fiscal and other
policies adopted by various U.S. and non-U.S. regulatory authorities and agencies. For
example, the Federal Reserve regulates the supply of money and credit in the U.S. and its
policies determine in large part the cost of funds for lending and investing in the U.S. and the
return earned on those loans and investments. Changes in fiscal policies by central banks or
regulatory authorities, and the manner in which those policies are executed, are beyond
JPMorgan Chase's control and may be difficult to predict. Consequently, unanticipated
changes in these policies or the ways in which they are implemented could have a negative
impact on JPMorgan Chase's businesses and results of operations.
JPMorgan Chase's businesses and revenues are also subject to the risks inherent in investing
and market-making in securities, loans and other obligations of companies worldwide. These
risks include, among others:

10.2

•

negative effects from slowing growth rates or recessionary economic conditions;

•

the risk of loss from unfavourable political, legal or other developments, including
social or political instability, in the countries or regions in which those companies
operate; and

•

the other risks and considerations discussed below.

Adverse economic and political developments in a country or region can have a wider
negative impact on JPMorgan Chase's businesses.
Some countries or regions in which JPMorgan Chase operates or invests, or in which
JPMorgan Chase may do business in the future, have in the past experienced severe economic
disruptions particular to those countries or regions. In some cases, concerns regarding the
fiscal condition of one or more countries can cause a contraction of available credit and
reduced commercial activity among trading partners within the affected countries or region.
These developments can also create market volatility which can lead to a contagion affecting
other countries in the same region or beyond. Furthermore, governments in particular
countries or regions in which JPMorgan Chase or its clients do business may choose to adopt
protectionist economic or trade policies in response to concerns about domestic economic
conditions. Any or all of these developments could lead to diminished cross-border trade and
financing activity within that country or region, all of which could negatively affect JPMorgan
Chase's business and earnings in those jurisdictions. If JPMorgan Chase takes steps to reduce
its market and credit risk exposure within a particular country or region that is experiencing
economic or political disruption, it may incur losses that are higher than expected because it
will be disposing of assets when market conditions are likely to be highly unfavourable.
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10.3

JPMorgan Chase's business activities with governmental entities pose a greater risk of
loss.
Several of JPMorgan Chase's businesses engage in transactions with, or trade in obligations of,
governmental entities, including national, state, provincial, municipal and local authorities,
both within and outside the U.S. These activities can expose JPMorgan Chase to enhanced
sovereign, credit-related, operational and reputation risks, including the risks that a
governmental entity may:
•

default on or restructure its obligations;

•

claim that actions taken by government officials were beyond the legal authority of
those officials; or

•

repudiate transactions authorised by a previous incumbent government.

Any or all of these actions could adversely affect JPMorgan Chase's financial condition and
results of operations and could hurt its reputation, particularly if JPMorgan Chase pursues
claims against a government obligor in a jurisdiction in which it has significant business
relationships with clients or customers.
10.4

JPMorgan Chase's business and revenues in emerging markets can be hampered by
local political, social and economic factors.
Some of the countries in which JPMorgan Chase conducts business have economies or
markets that are less developed and more volatile, and may have legal and regulatory regimes
that are less established or predictable, than the U.S. and other developed markets in which
JPMorgan Chase operates. Some of these countries have in the past experienced severe
economic disruptions, including:
•

extreme currency fluctuations;

•

high inflation;

•

low or negative growth; or

•

defaults or potential defaults on sovereign debt.

The governments in these countries have sometimes reacted to these developments by
imposing restrictive monetary policies such as currency exchange controls and other laws and
restrictions that adversely affect the local and regional business environment. In addition,
these countries, as well as certain more developed countries, have been susceptible to
unfavourable social developments arising from poor economic conditions and related
governmental actions, including:
•

social unrest;

•

general strikes and demonstrations;

•

crime and corruption;

•

security and personal safety issues;

•

outbreaks of hostilities;

•

overthrow of incumbent governments;

•

terrorist attacks; or

•

other forms of internal discord.
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These economic, political and social developments have in the past resulted in, and in the
future could lead to, conditions that can adversely affect JPMorgan Chase's operations in those
countries and impair the revenues, growth and profitability of those operations.
If the legal and regulatory system in a particular country is less established or predictable, this
can create a more difficult environment in which to conduct business. For example, any of the
following could hamper JPMorgan Chase's operations and reduce its earnings in countries
with less established or predictable legal and regulatory regimes:
•

the absence of a statutory or regulatory basis or guidance for engaging in specific
types of business or transactions;

•

the adoption of conflicting or ambiguous laws and regulations, or the inconsistent
application or interpretation of existing laws and regulations;

•

uncertainty concerning the enforceability of contractual obligations;

•

difficulty in competing in economies in which the government controls or protects all
or a portion of the local economy or specific businesses, or where graft or corruption
may be pervasive; and

•

the threat of arbitrary regulatory investigations, civil litigation or criminal
prosecutions, the termination of licenses required to operate in the local market or the
suspension of business relationships with governmental bodies.

JPMorgan Chase's operations in or involving emerging markets countries can also be affected
by governmental actions such as:
•

monetary policies;

•

expropriation, nationalisation or confiscation of assets;

•

price, capital or exchange controls; and

•

changes in laws and regulations.

The impact of these actions could be accentuated in trading markets that are smaller, less
liquid and more volatile than more-developed markets. These types of government actions can
negatively affect JPMorgan Chase's operations in the relevant country, either directly or by
suppressing the business activities of local clients or multi-national clients that conduct
business in the jurisdiction. For example, some or all of these governmental actions can result
in funds belonging to JPMorgan Chase, or that it places with a local custodian on behalf of a
client, being effectively trapped in a country. In addition to the ultimate risk of losing the
funds entirely, JPMorgan Chase could be exposed for an extended period of time to the credit
risk of a local custodian that is now operating in a deteriorating domestic economy.
JPMorgan Chase's revenues from international operations and trading in non-U.S. securities
and other obligations can be negatively affected by the foregoing economic, political and
social conditions in a particular country in which it does business. In addition, any of the
above-mentioned events or circumstances in one country can affect JPMorgan Chase's
operations and investments in another country or countries, including in the U.S.
10.5

JPMorgan Chase's operations in the emerging markets can subject it to higher
operational and compliance costs.
Conducting business in countries with less-developed legal and regulatory regimes often
requires JPMorgan Chase to devote significant additional resources to understanding, and
monitoring changes in, local laws and regulations, as well as structuring its operations to
comply with local laws and regulations and implementing and administering related internal
policies and procedures. There can be no assurance that JPMorgan Chase will always be
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successful in its efforts to conduct its business in compliance with laws and regulations in
countries with less predictable legal and regulatory systems or that JPMorgan Chase will be
able to develop effective working relationships with local regulators.
10.6

Complying with economic sanctions and anti-corruption and anti-money laundering
laws and regulations can increase JPMorgan Chase's operational and compliance costs
and risks.
JPMorgan Chase must comply with economic sanctions and embargo programmes
administered by the U.S. Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC") and similar
national and multi-national bodies and governmental agencies outside the U.S., as well as anticorruption and anti-money laundering laws and regulations throughout the world. JPMorgan
Chase can incur higher costs and face greater compliance risks in structuring and operating its
businesses to comply with these requirements. Furthermore, a violation of a sanction or
embargo programme or anti-corruption or anti-money laundering laws and regulations could
subject JPMorgan Chase, and individual employees, to regulatory enforcement actions as well
as significant civil and criminal penalties

11.

Competition Risks

11.1

The financial services industry is highly competitive, and JPMorgan Chase's results of
operations will suffer if it is not a strong and effective competitor.
JPMorgan Chase operates in a highly competitive environment, and expects that competition
in the U.S. and global financial services industry will continue to be intense. Competitors
include:
•

other banks and financial institutions;

•

trading, advisory and investment management firms;

•

finance companies and technology companies; and

•

other firms that are engaged in providing similar products and services.

JPMorgan Chase cannot provide assurance that the significant competition in the financial
services industry will not materially and adversely affect its future results of operations.
New competitors have emerged. For example, technological advances and the growth of ecommerce have made it possible for non-depository institutions to offer products and services
that traditionally were banking products. These advances have also allowed financial
institutions and other companies to provide electronic and internet-based financial solutions,
including electronic securities trading, payment processing and online automated algorithmicbased investment advice. Furthermore, both financial institutions and their non-banking
competitors face the risk that payment processing and other services could be disrupted by
technologies, such as cryptocurrencies, that require no intermediation. New technologies have
required and could require JPMorgan Chase to spend more to modify or adapt its products to
attract and retain clients and customers or to match products and services offered by its
competitors, including technology companies.
Ongoing or increased competition may put downward pressure on prices and fees for
JPMorgan Chase's products and services or may cause JPMorgan Chase to lose market share.
This competition may be on the basis of, among other factors, quality and variety of products
and services offered, transaction execution, innovation, reputation and price. The failure of
any of JPMorgan Chase's businesses to meet the expectations of clients and customers,
whether due to general market conditions or underperformance, could affect JPMorgan
Chase's ability to attract or retain clients and customers. Any such impact could, in turn,
reduce JPMorgan Chase's revenues. Increased competition also may require JPMorgan Chase
to make additional capital investments in its businesses, or to extend more of its capital on
behalf of its clients in order to remain competitive.
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Non-U.S. competitors of JPMorgan Chase's wholesale businesses outside the U.S. are
typically subject to different, and in some cases, less stringent, legislative and regulatory
regimes. The more restrictive laws and regulations applicable to JPMorgan Chase and other
U.S. financial services institutions can put JPMorgan Chase and those firms at a competitive
disadvantage to non-U.S. competitors. This could reduce the revenue and profitability of
JPMorgan Chase's wholesale businesses, resulting from:
•

prohibitions on engaging in certain transactions;

•

higher capital and liquidity requirements;

•

making JPMorgan Chase's pricing of certain transactions more expensive for clients;
and

•

adversely affecting JPMorgan Chase's cost structure for providing certain products.

12.

People Risk

12.1

JPMorgan Chase's ability to attract and retain qualified employees is critical to its
success.
JPMorgan Chase's employees are its most important resource, and in many areas of the
financial services industry, competition for qualified personnel is intense. JPMorgan Chase
endeavors to attract talented and diverse new employees and retain and motivate its existing
employees. If JPMorgan Chase were unable to continue to attract or retain qualified
employees, including successors to the Chief Executive Officer or members of the Operating
Committee, JPMorgan Chase's performance, including its competitive position, could be
materially and adversely affected.

12.2

Changes in immigration policies could adversely affect JPMorgan Chase.
There is the potential for changes in immigration policies in multiple jurisdictions around the
world, including in the U.S. If immigration policies were to unduly restrict or otherwise make
it more difficult for qualified employees to work in, or transfer among, jurisdictions in which
JPMorgan Chase has operations or conducts its business, JPMorgan Chase could be adversely
affected.

13.

Legal Risks

13.1

JPMorgan Chase faces significant legal risks from private actions and formal and
informal regulatory investigations.
JPMorgan Chase is named as a defendant or is otherwise involved in various legal
proceedings, including class actions and other litigation or disputes with third parties. Actions
currently pending against JPMorgan Chase may result in judgments, settlements, fines,
penalties or other results adverse to JPMorgan Chase. Any of these matters could materially
and adversely affect JPMorgan Chase's business, financial condition or results of operations,
or cause serious reputational harm. As a participant in the financial services industry, it is
likely that JPMorgan Chase will continue to experience a high level of litigation related to its
businesses and operations.
Regulators and other government agencies conduct examinations of JPMorgan Chase and its
subsidiaries both on a routine basis and in targeted exams, and JPMorgan Chase's businesses
and operations are subject to heightened regulatory oversight. This heightened regulatory
scrutiny, or the results of such an investigation or examination, may lead to additional
regulatory investigations or enforcement actions. There is no assurance that those actions will
not result in regulatory settlements or other enforcement actions against JPMorgan Chase.
Furthermore, a single event involving a potential violation of law or regulation may give rise
to numerous and overlapping investigations and proceedings, either by multiple federal and
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state agencies and officials in the U.S. or, in some instances, regulators and other
governmental officials in non-U.S. jurisdictions.
If another financial institution violates a law or regulation relating to a particular business
activity or practice, this will often give rise to an investigation by regulators and other
governmental agencies of the same or similar activity or practice by JPMorgan Chase.
These and other initiatives by U.S. and non-U.S. governmental authorities may subject
JPMorgan Chase to judgments, settlements, fines or penalties, or require JPMorgan Chase to
restructure its operations and activities or to cease offering certain products or services. All of
these potential outcomes could harm JPMorgan Chase's reputation or lead to higher
operational costs, thereby reducing JPMorgan Chase's profitability, or result in collateral
consequences
14.

Issuer Risk

14.1

Risks relating to JPMSP as individual entity.
Information about risk factors relating to JPMSP can be found in JPMSP's Annual Report for
the year ended 31 December 2017 (pages 23 to 26 of the pdf). The information is incorporated
by reference into this Registration Document (see also section "IV. Information incorporated
by reference").
In particular the following key risks which are inherent to JPMSP's business activities should
be taken into account (which are elaborated in more detail on JPMSP's Annual Report for the
year ended 31 December 2017 (pages 23 to 26 of the pdf)) that could affect JPMSP's business
and, as a consequence, may affect JPMSP's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Securities:
•

Credit risk: The risk associated with the default or change in credit profile of a
customer. For further information see also under section 4. above where such risk is
described in more detail in relation to JPMorgan Chase.

•

Liquidity risk: The risk that JPMSP will be unable to meet its contractual and
contingent financial obligations as they arise or that it does not have the appropriate
amount, composition and tenor of funding and liquidity to support its assets and
liabilities. For further information see also under section 5. above where such risk is
described in more detail in relation to JPMorgan Chase.

•

Market risk: The risk associated with the effect of changes in market factors, such as
interest rates or foreign exchange rates, equity and commodity prices, implied
volatilities or credit spreads, on the value of assets and liabilities held for both the
short and long term. For further information see also under section 3. above where
such risk is described in more detail in relation to JPMorgan Chase.

•

Compliance risk: The risk of failure to comply with applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

•

Operational risk: The risk associated with inadequate or failed internal processes,
people or systems, or from external events. For further information see also under
section 6. above where such risk is described in more detail in relation to JPMorgan
Chase.

•

Reputation risk: The potential that an action, inaction, transaction, investment or
event will reduce trust in JPMSP and the JPMorgan Chase's integrity or competence
by our various constituents, including clients, counterparties, regulators, employees
and the broader public. For further information see also under section 9. above where
such risk is described in more detail in relation to JPMorgan Chase.
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14.2

JPMSP is affected by risks affecting its parent company and other J.P. Morgan affiliates.
JPMSP is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase & Co. It is anticipated that
JPMSP will, for each issuance, enter into hedging arrangements with other J.P. Morgan
affiliates which could include JPMS plc and/or JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and that such
arrangements will be sufficient to hedge its respective market risk for each such issuance.
Accordingly, the ability of JPMSP to perform its respective obligations under the Securities
may be affected by any inability or failure to perform, pursuant to its respective hedging
arrangements, by such other J.P. Morgan affiliate. The hedging activities with J.P. Morgan
affiliates will be collateralized and potential funding requirements resulting from settlementrelated timing differences between issuances and the hedges are funded by those other J.P.
Morgan affiliates involved in the transactions. There is a risk that a failure to perform by one
J.P. Morgan affiliate under a hedging arrangement could affect more than one type and/or
issuance of Securities. Should this circumstance materialise, the payment obligations of
JPMSP under the terms of the Securities would be guaranteed by JPMS plc.

14.3

Voidable preference and related risks in the Netherlands.
The validity or enforceability of any documents or any legal act (rechtshandeling) forming
part thereof or contemplated thereby in relation to any securities issued by JPMSP are subject
to and limited by the protection afforded by Netherlands law to creditors whose interests have
been adversely affected pursuant to the rules of Netherlands law relating to (x) unlawful acts
(onrechtmatige daden) based on Section 6:162 et seq. of the Netherlands Civil Code
(Burgerlijk Wetboek) and (y) fraudulent conveyance or preference (actio pauliana) within the
meaning of Section 3:45 of the Netherlands Civil Code (Burgerlijk Wetboek). Furthermore, in
the event of any insolvency proceedings being opened in the Netherlands in relation to
JPMSP, Dutch laws in relation to bankruptcy proceedings, in particular Section 42 et seq. of
the Netherlands Bankruptcy Act (Faillissementswet) in relation to fraudulent conveyance or
preference (actio pauliana) would apply.

15.

Guarantor Risk

15.1

Risks relating to JPMS plc as individual entity.
Information about risk factors relating to JPMS plc can be found in the section "Strategic
Report" of JPMS plc's Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2017 which is
contained on pages F-3 to F-26 of this Registration Document.
In particular the following key risks which are inherent to JPMS plc's business activities
should be taken into account (which are elaborated in more detail on JPMS plc's Annual
Report for the year ended 31 December 2017 as set out on page F-3 to F-26 of this
Registration Document) that could affect the JPMS plc's business and, as a consequence, may
affect JPMS plc's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Guarantee:
•

The risks described in the bullets in section 14.1 in relation to JPMSP which are also
inherent to JPMS plc's business activities.

•

Capital risk: The risk that JPMS plc has an insufficient level and composition of
capital to support JPMS plc's business activities, and associated risks during normal
economic environments and stressed conditions. For further information see also
under section 14.2 below.

•

Country risk: The framework for monitoring and assessing how financial, economic,
political or other significant developments adversely affect the value of JPMs plc's
exposures related to a particular country or set of countries. For further information
see also under section 10. above where such risk is described in more detail in
relation to JPMorgan Chase.

35

Risk Factors

15.2

•

Non-U.S. dollar Foreign Exchange ("FX") risk: Non-U .S. dollar FX risk is the risk
that changes in foreign exchange rates affect the value of JPMs plc's assets or
liabilities or future results.

•

Structural interest rate risk: The risk resulting from JPMs plc's traditional banking
activities (accrual accounted on- and off balance sheet rate risk positions) which
includes extension of loans and credit facilities, taking deposits and issuing debt
(collectively referred to as "non-trading activities").

•

Conduct risk: The risk that any action or inaction by an employee of JPMs plc could
lead to unfair client/customer outcome, compromise JPMs plc's reputation, impact
the integrity of the markets in which JPMs plc operates, or reflect poorly on the
JPMorgan Chase's culture. For further information see also under section 8. above
where such risk is described in more detail in relation to JPMorgan Chase.

•

Legal risk: The risk of loss primarily caused by the actual or alleged failure to meet
legal obligations that arise from the rule of law in jurisdictions in which JPMorgan
Chase and JPMs plc operate, agreements with clients and customers and products and
services offered by JPMs plc and the JPMorgan Chase. For further information see
also under section 13. above where such risk is described in more detail in relation to
JPMorgan Chase.

•

Model risk: The risk of the potential for adverse consequences from decisions based
on incorrect or misused model outputs.

JPMS plc is subject to particular risks in relation to European and UK regulation of the
financial service industry.
As a credit institution, regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA") and the
Prudential Regulation Authority ("PRA") in the United Kingdom and as a subsidiary of a
systemically important financial institution, JPMS plc is subject to extensive regulation
principally in the United Kingdom and the EU. JPMS plc faces the risk of significant
intervention by regulatory and tax authorities in all jurisdictions in which it conducts its
businesses. In many cases, JPMS plc's activities may be subject to overlapping and divergent
regulation in different jurisdictions.
Among other things, as a result of regulators or private parties challenging JPMS plc's
compliance with laws and regulations, it could be fined, prohibited from engaging in certain
business activities, subject to limitations or conditions on its business activities or subjected to
new or substantially higher taxes or other governmental charges in connection with the
conduct of its businesses or with respect to its employees. Such limitations or conditions may
negatively impact JPMS plc's profitability.
Separate and apart from the impact on the scope and profitability of JPMS plc's business
activities, day-to-day compliance with laws and regulations, in particular those laws and
regulations adopted since 2008, has involved and will continue to involve significant amounts
of time, including that of JPMS plc's senior leaders and that of an increasing number of
dedicated compliance and other reporting and operational personnel, all of which may
negatively impact JPMS plc's profitability.
If there are new laws or regulations or changes in the enforcement of existing laws or
regulations applicable to JPMS plc's businesses or those of JPMS plc's clients, including
capital, liquidity, leverage, loss absorbing capacity, position limits, registration and margin
requirements, restrictions on other business practices, reporting requirements, requirements
relating to the implementation of the EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive ("BRRD"),
tax burdens and compensation restrictions, that are imposed on a limited subset of financial
institutions (either based on size, activities, geography or other criteria) which may include
JPMS plc, compliance with these new laws and regulations and amendments to such laws and
regulations, or changes in the enforcement of existing laws or regulations, could adversely
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affect JPMS plc's ability to compete effectively with other institutions that are not affected in
the same way. In addition, regulation imposed on financial institutions or market participants
generally, such as taxes on financial transactions, could adversely impact levels of market
activity more broadly, and thus impact JPMS plc's businesses.
There is an extensive and complex program of final and proposed regulatory enhancements
which reflects, in part, the EU's commitment to the G20 policy framework. These proposed or
adopted numerous market reforms that have impacted and may continue to impact JPMS plc's
businesses. These include stricter capital and liquidity requirements, including legislation (in
the form of EU Directive 2013/36/EU, as amended or replaced from time to time, the "CRD
IV" and a regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council on
prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and amending Regulation
(EU) No 646/2012 (as amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time, the "CRR",
together with the CRD IV, the "CRD IV/CRR-package")) to implement the Basel
Committee's December 2010 final capital framework for strengthening international capital
standards (the "Basel III" capital requirements) for JPMS plc. In addition, bank and
investment firm recovery and resolution; bank structure; securities settlement; transparency
and disclosure of securities financing transactions; benchmarks; restrictions on short selling
and credit default swaps; additional obligations and restrictions on the management and
marketing of funds in the EU; revisions to the laws on corporate governance; anti moneylaundering controls; data security and privacy as well as significant reviews to law on
corporate governance in financial firms, sanctions and market conduct rules. Furthermore, the
Markets in Financial Instruments Regulation ("MiFIR") and a revision of the Markets in
Financial Instruments Directive ("MiFID II", and collectively, "MiFID II/R") became
effective in January 2018.
These developments could impact JPMS plc's profitability and competitive position in the
affected jurisdictions, particularly if these requirements do not apply, or do not apply equally,
to JPMS plc's competitors or are not implemented uniformly across jurisdictions. They could
even make it uneconomic to continue to conduct all or certain businesses in such jurisdictions,
or could result in JPMS plc incurring significant costs associated with changing business
practices, restructuring businesses, moving certain businesses and employees to other
locations or complying with applicable capital requirements, including liquidating assets or
raising capital in a manner that adversely increases JPMS plc's funding costs or otherwise
adversely affects its shareholder and creditors.
Increasingly, regulators and courts have sought to hold financial institutions liable for the
misconduct of their clients where such regulators and courts have determined that the financial
institution should have detected that the client was engaged in wrongdoing, even though the
financial institution had no direct knowledge of the activities engaged in by its client.
Regulators and courts have also increasingly found liability as a "control person" for activities
of entities in which financial institutions or funds controlled by financial institutions have an
investment, but which they do not actively manage. In addition, regulators and courts continue
to seek to establish "fiduciary" obligations to counterparties to which no such duty had been
assumed to exist. To the extent that such efforts are successful, the cost of, and liabilities
associated with, engaging in brokerage, clearing, market-making, prime brokerage, investing
and other similar activities could increase significantly. To the extent that JPMS plc has
fiduciary obligations in connection with acting as a financial adviser, investment adviser or in
other roles for individual, institutional, sovereign or investment fund clients, any breach, or
even an alleged breach, of such obligations could have materially negative legal, regulatory
and reputational consequences.
Trading and clearing legislation
In the EU, there have been significant regulatory reforms to give effect to the 2009 G20 policy
agenda. This includes European Market Infrastructure Regulation ("EMIR"), which began in
2012 and MiFID II/R, which began on 3 January 2018.
EMIR requires, among other things, the central clearing of certain standardised derivatives and
risk mitigation techniques for uncleared OTC ("over-the-counter") derivatives. EMIR is
currently being reviewed as part of the European Commission's EMIR Regulatory Fitness and
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Performance programme ("REFIT") legislative proposal, but this has not yet been finalised.
EMIR REFIT proposes to introduce targeted changes to EMIR to streamline the rules and
make them less burdensome for certain counterparties.
MiFID II/R gives effect to the G20 commitment to move trading of standardised OTC
derivatives to exchanges or electronic trading platforms as well as significantly enhances
requirements for pre- and post-trade transparency, clearing, trade and transaction reporting and
investor protection, and introduces a commodities position limits and reporting regime. MiFID
II/R has introduced expanded requirements for a broad range of investment management
activities within their investor protection requirements, including product governance,
transparency on costs and charges, independent investment advice, inducements, record
keeping and client reporting.
Loss absorbency requirements under the EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive
The EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive ("BRRD") and the UK transposition of the
Directive established a requirement for the Bank of England ("BoE") to set a minimum
requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities ("MREL"). The BoE finalised its policy for
setting external MREL in November 2016, which confirmed that the BoE will apply a level of
MREL in line with the global Total Loss Absorbing Capacity ("TLAC") standard, including
with regards to timing (transitional arrangements will apply from 1 January 2019, with full
compliance required by 1 January 2022). TLAC is intended to facilitate the resolution of a
financial institution without causing financial instability and without recourse to public funds.
The BoE subsequently issued a consultation paper on its proposed approach to setting internal
MREL in October 2017 which confirmed that implementation of internal MREL requirements
will follow the same timeline as for external MREL. The BoE is expected to finalise its
internal MREL policy in 2018, with a view to communicating firm-specific interim targets
ahead of the 1 January 2019 implementation date.
The potential impacts of these requirements on JPMS plc are currently being considered. Once
communication of the end state requirement has been provided, JPMS plc will establish plans
to ensure compliance with the requirements by the conformance date. In the interim period
however, JPMS plc considers compliance with current minimum capital requirements to
represent compliance with its transitional MREL.
Capital Requirements Directive V and Capital Requirements Regulation II
The European Commission in November 2016 has published a comprehensive proposal for
revised capital and liquidity legislation for banks and investment firms (so-called "CRDV/CRR-II/BRRD-II-Package") which will implement in the EU many of the finalised Basel
Ill capital and liquidity standards, including changes in relation to the leverage ratio, market
risk capital, and a stable funding ratio.
In May 2018, the European Council published compromise proposals for the CRD IV/CRRpackage reflecting its agreed general approach, while the European Parliament continues to
consider amendments to the European Commission's proposal from November 2016 aiming to
amend the CRD IV/CRR-package. The trilogue process is expected to commence in 2018,
albeit the date of implementation remains difficult to predict. The proposals also include a
transitional provision effectively delaying the implementation of most of the new proposals
for a further two years after the formal adoption of the legislation. Thus, a January 2021 start
date for the significant capital elements of the proposal seems likely. The changes proposed to
the capital framework will require significant preparatory work both in terms of interpretation
and implementing the new rules, the proposals of which are set out below.
•

The legislation proposes an intermediate parent undertaking ("IPU") requirement for
foreign banks, which will require non EU banks operating in Europe (with total EU
assets of more than EUR 30 bn or which are part of a global systemically important
banks ("G-SIBs")) to establish a single EU-located IPU. The full impact of the
proposal on JPMS plc's operations will be heavily influenced by the outcome of the
EU legislative process, including whether any flexibility is introduced to the
requirement.
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•

The Fundamental Review of the Trading Book ("FRTB") overhauls the market risk
capital requirements and aims to develop a new trading book framework. The impact
on JPMS plc has not been quantified at this stage under these updated proposals.

•

Standardised approach to measuring counterparty credit risk exposures ("SA-CCR")
includes provisions differentiating between margined and un-margined transactions
and improving the capital framework's risk sensitivity. SA-CCR also provides clearer
recognition of netting benefits and the degree of volatility in counterparty exposures.
In practice, JPMS plc is expected to implement the Internal Model Method ("IMM")
approach for a large part of its exposures by the time SA-CCR is implemented,
reducing the impact of the latter.

•

The leverage ratio was introduced in Basel 3 (and transposed into CRR), as a nonrisk based measure of the level of capital held by a firm. It is calculated by assessing
Tier 1 capital to Total Exposures. The amendments now mandate a binding ratio, set
at 3%, with discretion afforded to national authorities to increase this requirement if
they deem necessary. It is not expected that the European implementation of the
leverage ratio requirements will be a binding constraint on JPMS plc.

The Basel Committee recently finalised certain changes to the Basel Ill framework which
includes revisions to the standardised approach to credit risk and operational risk calculation
methods. They will affect JPMS plc only once implemented in the EU through changes to the
CRD IV. Note that no firm plans for implementation of these changes have been set out by the
EU legislative bodies.
15.3

JPMS plc could become subject to a potential exercise by a UK resolution authority of its
resolution powers.
The BRRD entered into force on 2 July 2014. EU Member states were required to adopt and
publish the laws, regulations and administrative provisions necessary to comply with the
BRRD by 31 December 2014 and to apply those with effect from 1 January 2015, except in
relation to the bail-in provisions, which were to apply from 1 January 2016 at the latest. Its
stated aim is to provide national "resolution authorities" with powers and tools to address
banking crises pre-emptively in order to safeguard financial stability and minimise taxpayers'
exposure to losses.
The requirements of the BRRD have been fully implemented in the UK mainly through the
UK Banking Act 2009, as amended and related statutory instruments (together, the "UK
Banking Act"). The UK Banking Act provides for a "resolution regime" granting substantial
powers to the Bank of England (or, in certain circumstances, HM Treasury), to implement
resolution measures (in consultation with other UK authorities) with respect to a UK financial
institution (for example, such as JPMS plc) where the UK resolution authority considers that
the relevant institution is failing or is likely to fail, there is no reasonable prospect of other
measures preventing the failure of the institution and resolution action is necessary in the
public interest.
The resolution powers available to the UK resolution authority include powers to:
•

write down the amount owing under the financial institution’s liabilities, including
contingent liabilities such as a Guarantee , including to zero, or convert the relevant
securities into other securities, including ordinary shares of the relevant institution (or
a subsidiary) – the so-called "bail-in" tool;

•

transfer all or part of the business of the relevant institution to a "bridge bank";

•

transfer impaired or problem assets to an asset management vehicle; and

•

sell the relevant institution to a commercial purchaser.
39

Risk Factors

In addition, the UK resolution authority is empowered to modify contractual arrangements,
suspend enforcement or termination rights that might otherwise be triggered and disapply or
modify laws in the UK (with possible retrospective effect) to enable the recovery and
resolution powers under the UK Banking Act to be used effectively.
It should be assumed that, in a resolution situation, financial public support will only be
available to JPMS plc (or any member of its group) as a last resort after the relevant UK
resolution authorities have assessed and used, to the maximum extent practicable, the
resolution tools, including the bail-in tool.
Investors should be aware that the exercise of any such resolution power or even the
suggestion of any such potential exercise in respect of JPMS plc (or any member of its group)
could have a material adverse effect on the rights of holders of Securities, and could lead to a
loss of some or all of the investment. The resolution regime is designed to be triggered prior to
insolvency of the relevant institution, and holders of securities issued or guaranteed by such
institution may not be able to anticipate the exercise of any resolution power (including
exercise of the "bail-in" tool) by the UK resolution authority. Further, holders of securities
issued or guaranteed by an institution which has been taken into a resolution regime will have
very limited rights to challenge the exercise of powers by the UK resolution authority, even
where such powers have resulted in the write down of the securities or conversion of the
securities to equity.
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II. CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements in this Registration Document, including the documents incorporated by reference
herein, are forward-looking statements. These statements can be identified by the fact that they do not
relate strictly to historical or current facts. Forward-looking statements often use words such as
"anticipate", "target", "expect", "intend", "plan" or "goal". Forward-looking statements provide
JPMorgan Chase's (JPMorgan Chase being JPMorgan Chase & Co. together with its consolidated
subsidiaries, including JPMSP and JPMS plc) current expectations or forecasts of future events,
circumstances, results or aspirations. JPMorgan Chase also may make forward-looking statements in its
other documents filed or furnished with the SEC. In addition, JPMorgan Chase's senior management
may make forward-looking statements orally to analysts, investors, representatives of the media and
others.
All forward-looking statements are, by their nature, subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which
are beyond JPMorgan Chase's control. JPMorgan Chase's actual future results may differ materially
from those set forth in its forward-looking statements. While there is no assurance that any list of risks
and uncertainties or risk factors is complete, below are certain factors which could cause actual results
to differ from those in the forward-looking statements:
•

local, regional and global business, economic and political conditions and geopolitical events;

•

changes in laws and regulatory requirements, including capital and liquidity requirements
affecting the businesses of JPMorgan Chase, and the ability of JPMorgan Chase to address
those requirements;

•

heightened regulatory and governmental oversight and scrutiny of JPMorgan Chase's business
practices, including dealings with retail customers

•

changes in trade, monetary and fiscal policies and laws;

•

changes in income tax laws and regulations;

•

securities and capital markets behaviour, including changes in market liquidity and volatility;

•

changes in investor sentiment or consumer spending or savings behaviour;

•

ability of JPMorgan Chase to manage effectively its capital and liquidity, including approval
of its capital plans by banking regulators;

•

changes in credit ratings assigned to JPMorgan Chase & Co. or its subsidiaries;

•

damage to JPMorgan Chase's reputation;

•

ability of JPMorgan Chase to deal effectively with an economic slowdown or other economic
or market disruption;

•

technology changes instituted by JPMorgan Chase, its counterparties or competitors;

•

the success of JPMorgan Chase's business simplification initiatives and the effectiveness of its
control agenda;

•

ability of JPMorgan Chase to develop new products and services, and the extent to which
products or services previously sold by JPMorgan Chase (including but not limited to
mortgages and asset-backed securities) require JPMorgan Chase to incur liabilities or absorb
losses not contemplated at their initiation or origination;

•

acceptance of JPMorgan Chase's new and existing products and services by the marketplace
and the ability of JPMorgan Chase to innovate and to increase market share;

•

ability of JPMorgan Chase to attract and retain qualified employees;

•

ability of JPMorgan Chase to control expense;
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•

competitive pressures;

•

changes in the credit quality of JPMorgan Chase's customers and counterparties;

•

adequacy of JPMorgan Chase's risk management framework, disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting;

•

adverse judicial or regulatory proceedings;

•

changes in applicable accounting policies, including the introduction of new accounting
standards;

•

ability of JPMorgan Chase to determine accurate values of certain assets and liabilities;

•

occurrence of natural or man-made disasters or calamities or conflicts and JPMorgan Chase's
ability to deal effectively with disruptions caused by the foregoing;

•

ability of JPMorgan Chase to maintain the security of its financial, accounting, technology,
data processing and other operational systems and facilities;

•

ability of JPMorgan Chase to withstand disruptions that may be caused by any failure of its
operational systems or those of third parties;

•

ability of JPMorgan Chase to effectively defend itself against cyberattacks and other attempts
by unauthorised parties to access information of JPMorgan Chase or its customers or to
disrupt JPMorgan Chase's systems; and

•

the other risks and uncertainties detailed in the section entitled "Risk Factors" of this
Registration Document.

Any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of JPMorgan Chase & Co. speak only as of the
date they are made and JPMorgan Chase & Co. does not undertake to update forward-looking
statements to reflect the impact of circumstances or events that arise after the date the forward-looking
statements were made. Investors should, however, consult any further disclosures of a forward-looking
nature which JPMorgan Chase & Co. may make in any subsequent Annual Reports on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, or Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC.
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III. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
JPMSP accepts responsibility for the information given in this Registration Document except for the
information contained in section VI., Appendix I and Appendix II and confirms that, having taken all
reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Registration Document
is, to the best of its knowledge, correct, and that no material facts or circumstances have been omitted
from this Registration Document.
JPMS plc accepts responsibility for the information given in this Registration Document except for the
information contained in sections IV. and V. and confirm that, having taken all reasonable care to
ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Registration Document is, to the best of
its knowledge, correct, and that no material facts or circumstances have been omitted from this
Registration Document.
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IV. INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
This document should be read and construed in conjunction with each supplement to this Registration
Document and the information incorporated by reference into this Registration Document. The
information contained in the following documents, each filed by JPMSP with the CSSF, is hereby
incorporated by reference into this Registration Document and deemed to be part of this Registration
Document:
(i)

the audited JPMSP Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2017 (the "JPMSP 2017
Annual Report"); and

(ii)

the audited JPMSP Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2016 (the "JPMSP 2016
Annual Report").

Any information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-reference list is considered
to be additional information and is not required by the relevant schedules of the Prospectus Regulation.
The table below sets out the relevant page references for the information incorporated into this
Registration Document by reference.
Information incorporated by reference

Page reference

From the JPMSP 2017 Annual Report*
Directors' Report
Financial Statements:
Balance sheet
Income Statement
Statement of changes in equity
Statement of cash flows
Notes to the financial statements
Other information:
Profit appropriation according to the Articles of Association
Independent auditors' report

Pages 3 to 5
Page 6
Page 7
Page 8
Page 9
Pages 10 to 27
Page 28
Pages 29 to 34

From the JPMSP 2016 Annual Report*
Directors' Report
Financial Statements:
Balance sheet
Income statement
Statement of changes in equity
Statement of cash flows
Notes to the financial statements
Proposed appropriation of net results
Other information:
Profit appropriation according to the Articles of Association
Independent auditors' report

Pages 3 to 5
Page 6
Page 7
Page 8
Page 9
Pages 10 to 26
Page 26
Page 27
Pages 28 to 36

*The page numbers referenced above relate to the PDF version of such document, which is available as set out below.
Investors who have not previously reviewed the information contained in the above documents should
do so in connection with their evaluation of any Securities. In case of any inconsistencies between any
statement contained in such a document and a statement contained in this Registration Document as
supplemented from time to time by any supplement filed under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive,
the statement in the Registration Document shall prevail. The documents from which information is
incorporated by reference will be available in form of a pdf on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's
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website (https://www.bourse.lu/issuer/JPMorgStrucProd/59875) under section "CSSF approvals" by
clicking the sub-section "See all" and clicking then the subsection "document(s) incorporated by
reference | supplement(s)" below "Base Prospectus 25/04/2018". The JPMSP 2016 Annual Report may
be retrieved by clicking on "Document incorporated by reference – JPMSP – Annual Report 2016" and
the JPMSP 2017 Annual Report by clicking on "Document incorporated by reference – JPMSP 2017
Annual Report"."
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V. J.P. MORGAN STRUCTURED PRODUCTS B.V.
1.

History and Development
JPMSP was incorporated as a private limited liability company (besloten vennootschap met
beperkte aansprakelijkheid) in Amsterdam, The Netherlands, on 6 November 2006 to exist for
an unlimited duration. JPMSP mainly operates under the Dutch Civil Code (Burgerlijk
Wetboek) and the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht). JPMSP
was and remains registered at the Chamber of Commerce of Amsterdam under registered
number 34259454 and has its registered offices at Luna ArenA, Herikerbergweg 238, 1101
CM Amsterdam, The Netherlands (telephone number +31 20 575 5600).
JPMSP is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A. is one of the principal bank subsidiaries of JPMorgan Chase & Co., a
company incorporated in the State of Delaware in the United States of America.

2.

Investment Policy
JPMSP may undertake independent investments in its sole discretion with the proceeds (net of
third party costs) of an issuance of notes, warrants or certificates, subject to compliance with
certain legal, tax and regulatory restrictions.

3.

Principal Activities
JPMSP's business principally consists of the issuance of securitised derivatives comprising
notes, warrants and certificates, including equity-linked, reverse convertible and market
participation notes (together, and for the purposes of this section only, the "Securities") and
the subsequent hedging of those risk positions. All issuances which have been closed to date
are subject to hedging arrangements. The proceeds of the sale of the Securities are used for
general corporate purposes, including the entry into hedging arrangements with other J.P.
Morgan affiliates. JPMSP anticipates that the hedging arrangements will be sufficient to hedge
itself against the market risk of its securities issuance activities. JPMSP also has receipts from
and makes payments to other J.P. Morgan affiliates.
It is anticipated that JPMSP will, for each issuance, enter into hedging arrangements with
other J.P. Morgan affiliates, and that such arrangements will be sufficient to hedge its market
risk for each such issuance. Accordingly, the ability of JPMSP to perform its obligations under
the Securities may be affected by any inability or failure to perform, pursuant to its hedging
arrangements, by such other J.P. Morgan affiliate.

4.

Principal Markets
During the financial year ended 31 December 2017, JPMSP issued Securities in the Asia
Pacific region, Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Latin America and the United States of
America.

46

J.P. Morgan Structured Products B.V.

5.

Organisational Structure
JPMSP is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A. is one of the principal bank subsidiaries of JPMorgan Chase & Co.
JPMorgan Chase & Co. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, "JPMorgan Chase") is a
leading global financial services firm and one of the largest banking institutions in the United
States, with operations worldwide.

As a consequence of the respective ownerships JPMSP is dependent on its sole shareholder
JPMorgan International Finance Limited and its ultimate parent company JPMorgan Chase &
Co. and thus on the business strategy for JPMorgan Chase. It is anticipated that JPMSP will,
for each issuance, enter into hedging arrangements with other J.P. Morgan affiliates, and that
such arrangements will be sufficient to hedge its respective market risk for each such issuance.
Accordingly, the ability of JPMSP to perform its obligations under the Securities may be
affected by any inability or failure to perform, pursuant to its hedging arrangements, by such
other J.P. Morgan affiliate.
6.

Trend Information
There have been no material adverse change in the prospects of JPMSP since 31 December
2017.
JPMSP's primary objective in 2018 will be the continued development of securitised products
for their placement to retail, 'high net worth' and institutional investors principally outside of
the United States of America, linked to a range of underlying reference assets including
equity, credit, interest rates, commodities and so called "alternatives" such as funds and hedge
funds.

7.

Directors and Officers
The administrative, management and supervisory bodies of JPMSP comprise its Board of
Directors. Set forth below are the names and positions of JPMSP's Directors:
Name

Function

Business address

Wolbert Hinrik Kamphuijs

Managing Director

Luna ArenA,
Herikerbergweg 238,
1101 CM Amsterdam,
The Netherlands

David Roland Hansson

Managing Director

25/F Chater House,
8 Connaught Road,
Central, Hong Kong
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Marleen Frederika Carola
van der Werff

Managing Director

Luna ArenA,
Herikerbergweg 238,
1101 CM Amsterdam,
The Netherlands

Delphine Robertson

Managing Director

25 Bank Street
Canary Wharf
London E14 5JP
United Kingdom

Jozef Cornelis Petrus van
Uffelen

Managing Director

Luna ArenA,
Herikerbergweg 238,
1101 CM Amsterdam,
The Netherlands

The principal outside activities of Mr. Kamphuijs, Mrs. van der Werff and Mr. van Uffelen are
as employees of TMF Netherlands B.V., a trust company which was established in The
Netherlands in 1970. Mr. Hansson is a Managing Director of the Investment Bank division at
JPMorgan Chase and there are no principal outside activities performed by Mr. Hansson
which are significant to JPMSP as Issuer. Mrs. Robertson is an Executive Director and cohead of the specialist structuring team within EMEA Equity Derivatives at the Investment
Bank division at JPMorgan Chase and there are no principal outside activities performed by
Mrs. Robertson which are significant to JPMSP as Issuer. All Directors hold office until
removed.
There are no material potential conflicts of interest between any duties owed to JPMSP by the
Directors of JPMSP identified above and their private interests and/or outside duties.
8.

Corporate Governance
JPMSP complies with established and accepted principles of corporate governance in The
Netherlands. The Board of Directors of JPMSP conducts itself in accordance with general
principles of Dutch corporate law.
The Board of Directors has appointed a committee to authorise and transact issuances of
Securities. No other committees made up for specific purposes or to perform specific functions
have been appointed.

9.

Financial information
Historical financial information
The JPMSP 2017 Annual Report and the JPMSP 2016 Annual Report are prepared and filed in
accordance with the laws of The Netherlands.
Audited historical financial information for the fiscal years ended 31 December 2017, which
forms part of JPMSP's 2017 Annual Report, and for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2016,
which forms part of JPMSP's 2016 Annual Report, are incorporated by reference into this
Registration Document.
Auditing of historical financial information
Mazars Paardekooper Hoffman Accountants N.V., who are members of the Royal Dutch
Institute
of
Chartered
Accountants
(Koninklijk
Nederlands
Instituut
voor
Registeraccountants), have audited without qualification JPMSP's audited financial statements
as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2017. A copy of the auditor's report
appears at page 27 (pages 29 to 34 of the pdf) of the JPMSP 2017 Annual Report and is
incorporated by reference into this Registration Document. Mazars Paardekooper Hoffman
Accountants N.V. has no material interest in JPMSP.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., who are members of the Royal Dutch Institute of
Chartered Accountants (Koninklijk Nederlands Instituut voor Registeraccountants), have
audited without qualification JPMSP's audited financial statements as at and for the financial
year ended 31 December 2016. A copy of the auditor's report appears at page 26 (pages 28 to
36 of the pdf) of the JPMSP's 2016 Annual Report, and is incorporated by reference into this
Registration Document. PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. has no material interest in
JPMSP.
The address of Mazars Paardekooper Hoffman Accountants N.V. is Wilhelmina Tower,
Delflandlaan 1, 1062 EA, Amsterdam, the Netherlands. The address of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. is: Thomas R. Malthusstraat 5, P.O. Box 90357,
1006 BJ Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
Interim financial information
JPMSP produces unaudited interim financial statements in respect of the period ended 30 June
in each year.
10.

Selected Financial Information
The following table shows selected financial information in relation to the Issuer which is
derived from the audited financial statements as at and for the financial years ended
31 December 2016 (JPMSP 2016 Annual Report) and 31 December 2017 (JPMSP 2017
Annual Report), each prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS), as adopted by the EU:
Selected income statement data
(in USD)

Year ended 31 December
2017

2016

Profit/(Loss) before income tax:

5,628,000

2,177,000

Profit/(Loss) for the year
attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company:

4,232,000

1,703,000

Selected balance sheet data
(in USD)

As at 31 December
2017

2016

Total assets:

32,059,705,000

19,961,720,000

Total liabilities:

31,524,839,000

19,431,086,000

534,866,000

530,634,000

Total equity:
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11.

Capital Structure
The authorised share capital of JPMSP is euro 90,000, divided into 90,000 ordinary shares of
euro 1.00 each. At incorporation 18,000 ordinary shares were issued. By a notarial deed of
share issuance dated 30 March 2007 an additional 2,000 ordinary shares were issued in
consideration of U.S. $500,000,000. The total issued and fully paid up share capital therefore
amounts to 20,000 ordinary shares. JPMSP does not hold any of its own shares. All shares are
held by JPMorgan International Finance Limited.

12.

Memorandum and Articles of Association
JPMSP's objects as set out in Article 3 of its Articles of Association are:

13.

(a)

to incorporate, to participate in any way whatsoever, to manage, to supervise, to
operate and to promote enterprises, businesses and companies;

(b)

to finance businesses and companies;

(c)

to borrow, to lend and to raise funds, including the issue of bonds, promissory notes
or other securities or evidence of indebtedness as well as to enter into agreements in
connection with the aforementioned;

(d)

to enter into swaps and any other derivative transactions whatsoever to hedge the
company's exposure under any agreements, securities or other instruments
whatsoever to which it is a party;

(e)

to supply advice and to render services to enterprises and companies with which the
company forms a group and to third parties;

(f)

to render guarantees, to bind the company and to pledge its assets for obligations of
the companies and enterprises with which it forms a group and on behalf of third
parties;

(g)

to obtain, alienate, manage and exploit registered property and items of property in
general;

(h)

to trade in currencies, securities and items of property in general;

(i)

to develop and trade in patent, trademarks, licences, knowhow and other intellectual
and industrial property-rights;

(j)

to perform any and all activity of industrial, financial or commercial nature, as well as
everything pertaining to the foregoing, relating thereto or conducive thereto, all in the
widest sense of the word.

Legal and arbitration proceedings
JPMSP is not and has not been involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings
relating to claims or amounts that are material during the 12-month period ending on the date
of this Registration Document which may have, or have had in the recent past, significant
effects on the financial position or profitability of JPMSP nor, so far as JPMSP is aware, are
any such governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings pending or threatened.

14.

No significant change in the Issuer’s financial or trading position
There have been no significant changes in the financial or trading position of JPMSP since 31
December 2017.

15.

Principal Establishments and Real Estate owned
JPMSP does not own any principal establishments, which account for more than 10 per cent.
of its revenues, nor does JPMSP own any real estate directly.
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16.

Dividends
JPMSP has not paid any dividends since its incorporation on 6 November 2006.
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VI. J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES PLC
1.

History and Development
JPMS plc was incorporated as a public limited liability company domiciled in England and
Wales on 30 April 1992. JPMS plc was and remains registered at the Companies House in
England under registered number 02711006 and has its registered offices at 25 Bank Street,
Canary Wharf, London, E14 5JP, United Kingdom (telephone number +44 20 7777 2000).
JPMS plc is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) and regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and the PRA in the United Kingdom.

2.

Principal Activities and Principal Markets
JPMS plc is an indirect principal subsidiary of the JPMorgan Chase & Co. in the United
Kingdom ("UK") and the European Economic Area ("EEA"). It has branches in Frankfurt,
Paris, Milan, Madrid, Stockholm and Zurich. It has outward services passports across the EEA
and outward branch passports for the respective branches except Zurich.
JPMS plc engages in international investment banking activity, including activity across
markets, investor services and banking lines of business. Within these lines of business, its
activities include underwriting government and corporate bonds, equities and other securities;
arranging private placements of debt and convertible securities; trading in debt securities,
equity securities, commodities, swaps and other derivatives; providing brokerage and clearing
services for exchange traded future and options contracts; lending related activities and
providing investment banking advisory services. JPMS plc is a member of over twenty
exchanges and various clearing houses, including, among others, LCH Clearnet Limited, LME
Clear, Eurex Clearing AG and ICE Clear Europe.
JPMS plc is a UK bank and a credit institution within the meaning of the EU Directive
2013/13/EU ("CRD IV"), legally defined as an undertaking whose business is to receive
deposits or other repayable funds from the public and to grant credits for its own account.

3.

Organisational Structure
JPMS plc is a subsidiary undertaking of J.P. Morgan Capital Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in England and Wales, and of its ultimate parent company JPMorgan Chase &
Co., a company incorporated in the United States of America. JPMS plc is a principal
subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase & Co. JPMorgan Chase ("JPMorgan Chase" being JPMorgan
Chase & Co. together with its consolidated subsidiaries) is a financial holding company
incorporated under Delaware law in 1968, is a leading global financial services firm and is one
of the largest banking institutions in the U.S. with operations worldwide. As a consequence of
the respective ownerships JPMS plc is dependent on its sole shareholder J.P. Morgan Capital
Holdings Limited and its ultimate parent company JPMorgan Chase & Co. and thus on the
business strategy for JPMorgan Chase.

4.

Trend Information
There have been no material adverse change in the prospects of JPMS plc since 31 December
2017.
The following statements are based on the current beliefs and expectations of JPMS plc''s
management and are subject to significant risks and uncertainties. These risks and
uncertainties could negatively affect JPMS plc's actual results. See "Cautionary Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" and "Risk Factors" in this Registration Document.
Future outlook
The outlook of JPMS plc for the full 2018 year should be viewed against the backdrop of the
global economy, financial markets activity, the geopolitical environment, the competitive
environment, client activity levels and regulatory and legislative developments in the countries
where JPMS plc does business. Each of these inter-related factors will affect the performance
of JPMS plc and its lines of business ("LOB's").
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On 23 June 2016, the UK voted by referendum to leave the European Union ("Brexit"). The
UK Government invoked Article 50 of the Lisbon Treaty on 29 March 2017, starting a two
year period for the formal exit negotiations. This means that the UK will leave the EU on 29
March 2019 assuming the timeline is not unanimously extended by the remaining 27 EU
Member States ("EU 27") and the UK. Formal negotiations began on 19 June 2017. In
December 2017, the EU 27 agreed that 'sufficient progress' had been made on the terms of the
UK's withdrawal to allow parallel talks on the future relationship, and on 23 March 2018, the
European Council announced a political agreement with the UK for a 21-month transition
period, and adopted negotiating guidelines on the long-term agreement.
The UK's priorities in negotiating the future relationship are to seek a bilateral free trade
agreement with the EU 27 that facilitates the 'greatest possible access' to the Single Market,
but that the UK will not seek to continue its membership of the Single Market. The current EU
position, as set out in Council negotiating directives, is that negotiations will address trade in
both goods and services, with the aim of allowing market access under host state rules, but
that any future framework should safeguard financial stability in the EU and respect its
regulatory and supervisory regime. Formal talks on the broad set of future relationship issues
began in early April. On 23 March 2018 EU leaders confirmed that a political agreement had
been reached with the UK that provisions for a 21-month transition period following Brexit to
be included in the withdrawal agreement. The withdrawal agreement will need to be ratified
by the UK and European Parliament before the UK's official exit date of 29 March 2019.
Brexit will have significant impact across the firm's European businesses, including business
and legal entity reorganisation. However, the situation remains highly uncertain, including in
relation to whether a transition period is secured and whether financial services will be
included in any future free trade agreement.
The impact of Brexit on JPMS plc's business model and risks will continue to be assessed as
part of the firmwide strategy in considering a strategic post-Brexit legal entity structure.
In response to the strategic changes which will be required under Brexit, there is potential that
migrations of business out of JPMS plc into other EU entities will need to occur. Furthermore,
it is possible that some surplus capital resources will be released and could be transferred from
JPMS plc to support business transferred into other EU entities. The amount of any such
transfers is still to be determined.
Regulatory Developments
In the EU, there is an extensive and complex program of final and proposed regulatory
enhancement that reflects, in part, the EU's commitments to policies of the Group of Twenty
Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors ("G20") together with other plans specific to
the EU. The EU operates a European Systemic Risk Board that monitors financial stability,
together with European Supervisory Authorities ("ESAs") that set detailed regulatory rules
and encourage supervisory convergence across the EU's Member States. The EU is currently
reviewing the ESA framework. The EU has also created a Single Supervisory Mechanism for
the eurozone, under which the regulation of all banks in that zone will be under the auspices of
the European Central Bank, together with a Single Resolution Mechanism and Single
Resolution Board, having jurisdiction over bank resolution in the zone. At both the G20 and
EU levels, various proposals are under consideration to address risks associated with global
financial institutions.
The EU is also currently considering or implementing significant revisions to laws covering
securities settlement; mutual funds and pensions; payments; anti-money laundering controls;
data security and privacy; transparency and disclosure of securities financing transactions;
benchmarks; resolution of banks, investment firms and market infrastructures; and capital and
liquidity requirements for banks and investment firms.
Consistent with the G20 and EU policy frameworks, UK regulators have adopted a range of
policy measures that have significantly changed the markets and prudential regulatory
environment in the UK. In addition, UK regulators have introduced measures to enhance
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accountability of individuals, and promote forward-looking conduct risk identification and
mitigation, including by introducing the senior managers and certification regimes.
5.

Directors and Officers
The administrative, management and supervisory bodies of JPMS plc comprise its Board of
Directors. Set forth below are the names and positions of JPMS plc's Directors at the date of
this Registration Document. The business address of each Director is 25 Bank Street, Canary
Wharf, London, E14 5JP, England.
Name

Function

Principal Outside
Activities

Sir Winfried Bischoff

Independent Non-Executive
Chairman of J.P. Morgan
Securities plc, of its
Nomination Committee and
the UK Remuneration
Committee. Member of the
Directors’ Risk Policy
Committee.

Chairman of the UK
Financial Reporting Council

Laban Jackson

Independent Non-Executive
Director and Chairman of
the UK Audit and
Compliance Committee and
member of the UK
Remueration Committee.

Director of JPMorgan Chase
& Co. and member of the
JPMorgan Chase & Co.
Audit Committee

Scott Moeller

Independent Non-Executive
Director and Chairman of
the Directors' Risk Policy
Committee. Member of the
Nomination Committee

Director, M&A Research
Centre, Cass Business
School

Jane Moran

Independent Non-Executive
Director and member of the
Nomination Committee and
UK Audit and Compliance
Committee

Chief Information Officer,
Unilever plc

Monique Shivanandan

Independent Non-Executive
Director and member of the
Directors' Risk Policy
Committee and UK Audit
and Compliance Committee

Group Chief Information
Officer, Chubb Limited

Daniel Pinto

Director and Chief
Executive Officer of
Corporate and Investment
Bank

Co-President and Co-Chief
Operating Officer for
JPMorgan Chase & Co;

Andrew Cox

Director, Chief Risk Officer
and Head of Credit Risk,
EMEA

Mark Garvin

Director and Vice Chairman
for Corporate and
Investment Bank, EMEA
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Elena Korablina

Director and Chief Financial
Officer, EMEA

Julia Meazzo

Director and Head of Human
Resources, EMEA

Viswas Raghavan

Director and Chief
Executive Officer; Chief
Executive Officer, EMEA;
Head of EMEA Banking

Jason Edwin Sippel

Director; Co-Head of Global
Equities

There are no material potential conflicts of interest between any duties owed to JPMS plc by
the Directors of JPMS plc identified above and their private interests and/or outside duties.
6.

Financial information
Historical financial information
Financial information of JPMS plc for the financial year 2017 prepared in accordance with
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure
Framework", and applicable law (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)
can be found in Appendix I ("JPMS plc 2017 Annual Report") of the Registration Document
(pages F-1 to F-76).
Financial information of JPMS plc for the financial year 2016 prepared in accordance with
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure
Framework", and applicable law (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)
can be found in Appendix II ("JPMS plc 2016 Annual Report") of the Registration
Document (pages G-1 to G-46).
Auditing of historical financial information
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors, have audited
without qualification JPMS plc's audited financial statements. A copy of the auditor's report
from the JPMS plc 2017 Annual Report appears on pages F-27 to F-33 of Appendix I and
from the JPMS plc 2016 Annual Report at pages G-3 to G-4 of Appendix II to this
Registration Document. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has no material interest in JPMS plc.
The address of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is: 7 More London Riverside, London, SE1 2RT,
United Kingdom.

7.

Major Shareholders
JPMS plc is a wholly-owned subsidiary of J.P. Morgan Capital Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in England and Wales.

8.

Legal and arbitration proceedings
JPMS plc is not and has not been involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration
proceedings relating to claims or amounts that are material during the 12-month period ending
on the date of this Registration Document which may have, or have had in the recent past,
significant effects on the financial position or profitability of JPMS plc nor, so far as JPMS plc
is aware, are any such governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings pending or threatened.
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9.

No significant change in the Issuer's financial position
There have been no significant changes in the financial position of JPMS plc since 31
December 2017.
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VII. DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY
Throughout the life of this Registration Document and from the date hereof, the following documents,
or copies thereof, will be available, during normal business hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays
and public holidays excepted), for inspection at the office of the Programme Agent (BNP Paribas
Securities Services S.C.A., Frankfurt Branch, Europa-Allee 12, 60327 Frankfurt am Main, Germany)
and in another form as may be required by law.
(i)

JPMSP 2017 Annual Report and the JPMSP 2016 Annual Report;

(ii)

JPMS plc 2017 Annual Report and the JPMS plc 2016 Annual Report;

(iii)

the Articles of Association of the JPMSP as amended from time to time;

(iv)

the Articles of Association of the JPMS plc as amended from time to time;

(v)

a copy of this Registration Document; and

(vi)

a copy of any supplement to this Registration Document, including any document(s)
incorporated by reference therein.

Furthermore, the documents mentioned under (v) and (vi) above are published in electronic form on the
website https://www.jpmorgan-zertifikate.de/en/library/legal-documents/ under the section "Legal
documents".
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